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Cautionary Language Regarding Forward-Looking Statements and Industry Data

. _ This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Forward-looking statements can be
identified by the fact that they do not relate strictly to historical or current facts. Forward-looking statements are based ugon our current assumptions, expectations and beliefs concerning future
developments and their potential effect on our business. In some cases, you can identify forward-looking statements by the following words: “may,” “could,” “would,” “should,” “expect,” “intend,”

“plan,” “anticipate,” “believe,” “approximately,” “estimate,” “predict,” “project,” “potential” or the negative of these terms or other comparable terminology, although the absence of these words does
not necessarily mean that a statement is not forward-looking.

A forward-looking statement is neither a prediction nor a_guarantee of future events or circumstances, and those future events or circumstances may not occur. You should not place undue
reliance on forward-looking statements, which speak only as of the date of this Annual Report. These forward-looking statements are all based on currently available operating, financial and
competitive information and are subject to various risks and uncertainties. Our actual future results and trends may differ materially depending on a variety of factors, including, but not limited to, the
risks and uncertainties discussed under "Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations". Given these risks and uncertainties, you should not rely on
forward-looking statements as a prediction of actual results. Any or all of the forward-looking statements contained in this Annual Report and any other public statement made by us, including by our
management, may turn out to be incorrect. We are including this cautionary note to make applicable and take advantage of the safe harbor provisions of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of
1995 %or forward-looking statements. We expressly disclaim any obligation to update or revise any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise.

Information regarding market and industry statistics contained in this report is included based on information available to us that we believe is accurate. It is generally based on academic and
other publications that are not produced for purposes of securities offerings or economic analysis. Forecasts and other forward-looking information obtained from these sources are subject to the same
qualifications and the additional uncertainties accompanying any estimates of future market size, revenue and market acceptance of products and services. Except as required by U.S. federal securities
laws, we have no obligation to update forward-looking information to reflect actual results or changes in assumptions or other factors that could affect those statements.
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PART 1

o

Unless otherwise indicated or the context otherwise requires, all references in this prospectus to “we,” “us,” “our” or the “Company” are to Enochian BioSciences, Inc., a Delaware
corporation (“Registrant”), together with its wholly owned subsidiaries, Enochian Bi%harma, Inc., a Delaware corporation (“Enochian Biopharma”) and Enochian Biosciences Denmark ApS, a
Danish limited company, organized under the Danish Act on Limited Companies of the Kingdom of Denmark (“DanDrit Denmark”).

Item 1. Business

Our Business

We are a pre-clinical stage biotechnology company committed to using our genetically modified cellular and immune-therapy technologies to prevent or potentially cure HIV and to
potentially provide life-long cancer remission of some of the deadliest cancers. In the event our technologies are approved for use, we plan to do this by genetically modifying, or re-engineering,
different types of cells, depending on the therapeutic area, and then injecting or reinfusing the re-engineered cells back into the patient to provide treatment. In some of our planned interventions,
immunotherapy could be used.

Human Immunodeficiency Virus, or HIV, and Acquired Immunodeficiency Syndrome, or AIDS

HIV attacks the body’s own immune system, specifically killing off CD4+ cells, or T-cells. Left untreated, HIV reduces the number of T-cells in the body, leading to AIDs, a condition where
the body cannot fight off common infections and disease.

Currently there are over 30 antiretroviral drugs, or ART, approved by the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (“FDA”) to treat HIV patients but these drugs are expensive, require daily
adherence and can have significant side effects over time. In addition, approximately 1 million people, including in high-income countries, continue to die from HIV/AIDS due to resistance to ART or
lack of access. Today there are no treatments which can eliminate the reservoir of cells that contain HIV from the body. In other words, treatment is life-long.

There have been several efforts to cure HIV by re-engineering a person’s own T-cells so that such cells no longer express C-C chemokine receptor type 5, also known as CCRS5, which is an
essential co-receptor for HIV to enter T-cells. A mutation that blocks expression of CCR5 on T-cells occurs in a small percentage of people with no known adverse effects. The “Berlin patient”, and
more recently the “London patient” are HIV- positive persons who developed cancer and were treated with a bone marrow transplant with cells derived from persons with a naturally occurring
deletion of CCRS. The Berlin and London patients seems to be effectively cured from HIV providing a proof of concept that HIV can be cured. However, because the transplanted cells come from
another person, such transplants are highly toxic and can result in death in a significant proportion of patients. Given the success with these two patients, several researchers and companies have
attempted to replicate the experience of such patients by genetically modifying the T-cells of the HIV-positive patients themselves and reinfusing them with T-cells that do not express CCRS5. Because
the transplanted cells are from the same person, the risks to the patient are much lower. The uptake, or engraftment of the modified, reinfused cells, however, has not been optimal, leading to a failure
to achieve a cure. In addition, the transplant conditioning that has been used is myeloablative chemotherapy, wiping out the patient’s immune system, which has inherent risks and can have long term
side-effects including the risk of developing cancer.

ENOB-HV-01 is a novel, proprietary approach with the potential to overcome the failures of recent efforts. The intervention:

1) provides gene-modified, reinfused cells with a competitive advantage over non-modified cells in the HIV-positive person, with the potential to significantly increase engraftment; and 2) avoids the
need for myeloablative chemotherapy and, in fact, could potentially be given on an outpatient basis. Initial in vivo studies demonstrated that hypothesis. ENOB-HV-01 is now undergoing additional in
vivo and in vitro studies intended to support an INTERACT meeting request with the US FDA in the early part of the 2020 calendar year.

We are also developing ENOB-HV-11 and ENOB-HV-12 that will utilize a novel cellular- and immunotherapy approach that could potentially provide for a preventative vaccine and a
therapeutic vaccine, respectively. Initial in vitro studies have demonstrated the ability of the approach to promote a robust immune response. /n vivo studies have been developed and are expected to
begin in the early part of the 2020 calendar year.




Cancer

Based on learning from peer-reviewed publications of Phase I/I1a trials we have designed an innovative dendritic-cell based therapeutic vaccination platform that could potentially be used to
induce life-long remissions from some of the deadliest solid tumors. We plan to initially target pancreatic cancer, triple negative breast cancer, glioblastoma, and renal cell carcinoma. The platform
might also allow for non-specific immune enhancement that could have impact against a broad array of solid tumors. As with HIV, our approach could potentially allow for outpatient therapy without
ablating or significantly impairing the patient’s immune system, as many current approaches require.

Our Product Candidates

. We are focused on the development of human therapeutics for infectious diseases and cancers. We are advancing a focused pipeline of innovative gene therapies that have been developed
internally. We have proprietary preclinical and discovery stage programs in HIV/AIDS and cancer immunotherapy.

A summary table of our key development programs as of September 2019 is provided below:

ENOB-HV-01 Autalogous HIV Curative Treatmnt

ENOB-HV-11 ventative HIV Vaccine

ENOB-HV-12 Therapeutic HIV Vaccine

ENOBDBO!  MCV vaccine technology E—

EMOB-DC-01 Off-the-shelf IC vaccine pulsed with L
MEV lysate

EMOB-DC-11 Innevative DC vaccine for multiple P TEEEEN
solid tumors

ENOB-DC-21 ific vaccine for int
injection [

Hny
[caocer-

# his legacy Dontkit product candidate i no langer being pursued by Encchian bt based on the leaming from working with this product, Enachian has combines the W
therapeutic platiorm. =
#we plan tn initially target panoreatic cancer, triple negattee hrepst cancer, glchlastoms, and renal cell carcinoma

ENOB-HV-01 Autologous Cell Therapy

Our lead candidate, ENOB-HV-01 is being develoged to improve on the hypothesis that an allogeneic bone marrow transplant procedure could represent a potential curative treatment for
HIV. ENOB-HV-01 seeks instead to develop a method of bone marrow transplant usmf autologous Agthe patient’s own cells) CD34+ cells, which could have significant advantages over allogeneic
bone marrow transplants. The prevailing hypothesis is that an autologous treatment could become available to most patients suffering from HIV/AIDS, and there is no need for matched donors and no
risk of “Graft versus Host Disease” (when the immune system of the treated patient rejects and destroys the transplanted cells).

ENOB-HV-01 as it is being developed seekg to silence the CCRS5 gene in cells ?f a patient’s immune systehm to make these cells permanenth resistant to HIV infgc_tion, by mimickin%jhe
naturally occurring CCRS5 delta-32 mutation that renders a polpulatlgn of individuals largely resistant to infection by the most common strains of HIV. The aim of this approach 1s to provide the patient
with a population of HIV-resistant CD4 cells that can fight HIV and opportunistic infections.

Currently, we are conducting in vitro and. in vivo pro?f-of-;:oncept studies of ENOB-HV-01 through parmerships with The Sc1]'i)pps Institute, l(an,d other leading scientists and academic centers
that we expect to lead to completion of the Chemistry, Manufacturing, and Control (“CMC”) requirements for an Investigational New Drug (“IND”Y filing.




ENOB- HV-11 (preventive) and ENOB-HV-12 (therapeutic) Vaccine

ENOB-HV-11 and ENOB-HV-12 are being developed as a preventative vaccine and therapeutic vaccine, respectively. We are advancing the preventatiye vaccine and a therapeutic vaccine
%rogram ‘t‘hroué},l partnerships with TEred HutchinSon Cancer Center and_ other leading scientists and academic centers that we expect to Iead t6 completion of the Chemistry, Manufacturing, and
ontrol (“CMC”) requirements for an Investigational New Drug (“IND”) filing.

ENOB-DB-01 MCYV Vaccine Technology and ENOB-DC-01 Off-the-shelf DC Vaccine pulsed with MCV

ENOB-DB-01 was developed as a therapeutic cancer vaccine for long term maintenance and prevention of relapse for stage III and IV colon cancer patients. ENOB-DC-01 is being developed as an
improvement on ENOB-DB-01 (formerly “MCV”), as a dendritic cell cancer vaccine designed to prevent relapse in colon cancer patients with no evidence of disease after resection and
chemotherapy. We are currently in the discovery/research stage, and we believe a succession of strong clinical success in the field of checkpoint inhibitors has spawned a renewed interest in the
development of cancer vaccines. We plan to use new clinical data to and existing data on ENOB-DB-01 to develop ENOB-DC-01.

ENOB-DC-11 Innovative DC Vaccine for Multiple Solid Tumors o . . . . . »
ENOB-DC-11 is being developed as an off the shelf, universal, dendritic cell as a delivery system for more specifically tailored cancer treatments. In this approach, immature dendritic cells

are differentiated from monocytes derived from bone marrow stem cells. During the production process, monocytes are genetically modified to elicit cellular, humoral and systemic immune
response by activating the cytotoxic response pathway, reactive B cell response, which induces a pan-activated immune response against the “target” we are loading the dendritic cells with.
The genetic modifications of these monocytes include a single chain proprietary/unique sequence that we have developed. The genetically modified monocytes then differentiate into immature
dendritic cells that are pulsed with tumor lysate or neopeptides and matured with a proprietary cocktail that could be used as a therapeutic vaccine.

Initial in vitro studies show substantial increases in tumor-cell killing. We are currently in the pre-clinical phase of this product line.

ENOB-DC-21 Non-specific vaccine for intratumoral injection

ENOB-DC-21 builds on insights gained from multiple avenues including the other cancer pipeline products discussed above. We are in the discovery/research phase of this product line.
Collaborations

We have established strategic partnerships with leading scientists and centers, such as The Scripps Institute and Fred Hutchinson Cancer Center, for several of our programs. We will continue
to pursue partnerships when ,ap;gropnate with selected philanthropic, pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies to fund internal research and development activities, and to assist in product
development and commercialization. We are apé)lymg our technology platform to several commercial applications in which our products provide us and our strategic partners and collaborators with
potential technical, competitive and economic advantages.

Collaborations

. We_have established strat%gic partnerships with, leading scientists and centers fé)r several of our programs. We will continue to pursue partnerships when appropriate with selected
hllanthroplcl, {)fharmaceutlcal and biotechnology companies to fund internal research and development activities, and to assist in prodllllct development and commercialization. We are applying our
a

echnology platform to several commercial applications in which our products provide us and our strategic partners and collaborators with potential technical, competitive and economic advantages.

To_date, our operations have been funded by sales of our securities. Saleg revenue will not support our current operations and we expect this to be the case until our thgra]t)ies or groducts are
approved for marflgftgllg in the United States and Europe. Even 1f we are successful in having our therapies or products approve, we cannot guarantee that a market for our products will develop. We
may never be profitable.

Our Intellectual Property

. Patents and licenses are important to our business. Our strat%gy is to file or license patent applicatiﬁns to, protect techn?logy, inventions and jimprovements to, inyentions that we consider
important for the develor?ment of our business. We rely on a combination offpaten,t, copyright, trademark, and ‘trade secret laws, as well as continuing technological innovations, roPrletary
nowledge, and various third party agreemints, ncluding, without limitation, confidentiality dgréements, materials transfer agreements, research agreements and licensing agreements, to, establish and

protect our proprietary rights." We aim to take advantage of all of the intellectual property rights that are available to us and seek protection of those rights so that we can fully exploit our innovations.

We also protect our proprietary information by requiriné our em}?lfglyees, consultants, contrﬁctors and other advisors to execute nondisclosure and assignment of invention agreements upon
commencement of their respective employment or engagement. Our patent filings are discussed briefly below.




Pharmaceutical composition for inducing an i resp inah or animal (2001 D k (DK), 2002 PCT)

This patent family, owned by the Company, is directed to certain melanoma cell lines and the use, of an allog@nic melanoma cell lysate (MCL)-pulsed autologous dendritic, cell vaccine
expressing at least one of six MAGE-A antigens to induce an immune responsg. This patent has been granted in: Eurgpe, USA, China, Australid, Singapore, Russia, and Hong Kong and is pending in
Japan. The issued patents relating to ENO- previously known as “MCV?”) begin to expire in-November 2022, subject to any applicable patent term extension, patent térm adjustment; or

supplementary protection certificates that may be available iri a country or jurisdiction.

Protocol for generating dendritic cells (2005 DK, 2008 PCT)

This patent famllly is directed to the generation of dendritic cells based on a blood sample by culturing monocytes at reduced temperatures. Dendritic cells exposed to tumor antjgens followed
by treatment with T(h) I-polarizing differentiation signals have paved the way for the development of dendritic céll-based cancer vaccines. Issued claims are directed to a method of generating
mmature dendritic cells under certain temperature settings which by further activation has been shown to give a high yield of homogeneous and ful Y matured dendritic cells. The {gatent CXpl% date 13
December 2026 sub&ect to ar&apphcable, patent term extension, patent term adjustment, or supplementar%ﬁrotecnon Certificates thal may be available in a country or jurisdiction. This patent has been
1ssued in the USA, Canada, China, Eurasia, Russia, Europe, Isracl, Mexico, Malaysia, and New Zealand. This patent is owned by the Company and was not licensed from third parties.

Trade Secrets and Proprietary Know-How

In addition to intellectual property protected by patents and copyrights, we have trade secrets and proprietary know-how relating to our products, production processes, and future strategies.

In-Licensed Technology

. On February 16, 2018, Enochian, Biopharma, the Registrant’s wholly-owned subsidiary, entered into a License Agreement (the “License Agreement”) with Weird Science, LLC (“Weird
Science”). The Licénse Agreement contains, among other things, the following terms: (a) a peipetual, fully paid-up, royalty-free, sublicensable, and €xclusive (1nc1ud1n§ to the exclusion of Weird
Science) worldwide license from Weird Science to Enochian Biopharma to use Weird Science’s intellectuial property and technology for the prevention, treatment, and/or amelioration of and/or
therapy for HLV in humans, and research and development exclusively relating to HIV in humansg (the “Field”) worldwide; (b) a nonexclusive, royalty-free, sublicensable license from Engchian
Biopharma to Weird Science to use the Enochian Technology to commercialize products outside of the Field worldwide; (c) a nonexclusive, royaity— reelicense from Enochian Biopharma to Weir
Science to use the results of a study with syn%enelc and humanized mice models outside the Field and, at Weird Science’s own expense, to Prosecute patents relating to the results of the study, which
Weird Science will own, and (d,] aperpetual, tully paid-up, royalty-free, sublicensable, and sole and exclusive (including to the exclusion of Weird Science) worldwide license from Weird Science to
Enochian Biopharma (which will be part of the license deseribed in (a) al 0ve2 to use patent a%phcatlons and patents related to the study results disclosed in' (d) above solely in the Field, and to make,
have made, use, sell, offer to sell and import inventions claimed in such patent applications and patents solely 1in the Field.

Competition

. The b10techn010g§{ and pharmaceutical indystries, including in the field of gene therapy, are characterized, by rapidly advancmﬁ technologies, intense competition and a strong emphasis on
intellectual property. While we believe that our technology platforms, strong intellectual pr(()ipeny portfolio and scientific expertise in the gene theraﬁy field provide us with competitive advantages,
we face potential competition from many different sources; including farger and better-funded pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies, new market entrants and new technologies.

We are_aware of several companies focused on other methods for editing dgenes and re; ulatm(% gene expression and a limited number of commercial and academic groups (Pursuln the
development of gene re’%ulatlon and genome editing technology. The field of applied gene regulation and genome editing 1sAh1§hly comé)etmve, and we expect competition to persist and intensity in
the future from séveral different sources, including pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies; academic and research institutions; and government agencies.

Accordingly, our competitors may succeed in obtaining patent protection, receiving FDA approval, or commercializing competitive products before us. If we commence commer&;ial {)roduct
sales, we may be_competing against companies with greater marketing and manufacturing ca{gablhtles, areas in which we have limited or no experience. In addition, any product candidate that we
successfully develop may compete with existing products that have long histories of safe and effective use.

The competitive landscape that we are facing is as follows:

Geng,therapy cam(fanies delaeloping gene-based products in_clinical trials. uniQure N.V.’s product for lipoprotein lipase deficiency and GlaxoSmithKline plc’s, or GSK, product for severe
com m%d immunodeticiency due to adénosine deaminase deficiency are approved in Eurgpe. No other gene therapy products have yet béen approved. Our competitors in this category may include,
but not be limited to, Sangamo, uniQure N.V., bluebird bio, Inc., Regenxbio Inc., Shire, Pfizer, and GSK-

Cell thertg)y companies developing cell-based products, Our coméxetitors in this category may include Novartis AG, Adaptimmune Therapeutics PLC, Atara Biotherapeutics, Inc., bluebird bio, Inc.,
Cellectis S/A., Juno Therapeutics, Inc., Kite Pharma, and Tovance 1otechnologies, Inc.




For ENOB-HV-01, we are aware of two companies developing a gene therapy for HIV/AIDS: Sangamo and American Gene Technology.
For ENOB-HV-11 and ENOB-HV-12, we are aware of a few biotech companies developing an HIV vaccine such as Geovax, Biosantech SA, FIT Biotech, among a few others.

For ENO--DC-11, the competitive landscape is more complex.

Immunotherapy is an active area of research and a number of immune-related products have been identified in recent years that are alleged to modulate the immune system. Many of these products
utilize dendritic cells, a form of immune cell that presents cancer target peptides to T cells and that can in turn result in T cell activation. More recently, bi-specific antibodies and checkpoint inhibitors
(for instance PD-1/PD-L1 antibodies) have been identified as having utility in the treatment of cancer. Bi-specific antibodies commonly target both the cancer peptide and the T cell receptors
(“TCR”), thus bringing both cancer cells and T cells into close proximity to maximize the chance of TCR binding and hence an immune response to the cancer cells. Checkpoint inhibitors on the other
hand work by targeting receptors that inhibit T cell effectiveness and proliferation and essentially activate T cells. Other immunotherapies that are being actively investigated include antibody-drug
complexes, TCR-mimic antibodies, oncolytic viruses, and cancer vaccines. A variety of cell-based autologous and allogeneic approaches are also being researched and developed.

CAR-T in solid tumors

. .In addition to hematolo%ical malignancies, there are a %_rowing number of gharmaceutical, biotechnology, and academic institutions researching and d_evelopin% autologous and allogeneic
chimeric antigen receptor T cell (“CAR-T”) therapies in the solid tumor setting. These CAR-T cell therapies are at a variety of stages of preclinical and clinical development, as well as directed
towards a broad target spectrum. Two Car-T therapies has been approved for treatment of leukemia

CARs&TCR-mimics targeting peptide-HLA complexes

Most CAR-T therapies in development are directed towards antigen tar%ets. However, competitors ar¢ also developing a CAR-T. that selective_lg binds to the peptide-HLA (pHLA) complex
(the natural binding site for endogenous TCR). Furthermore, competitors are also looking af pHLA antibodies or TCR mimic antibodies that can either be engineered in T cells or developed as
standalone antibody therapies in cancer indications (including solid tumors).

TCRTcells

Competitors are developing TCR T cells (including affinity enﬁlneered T cells) that are directed towards a multitude of targets. Juno Therapeutics has developed an engineered TCR
therapeutic candidate where the end TCR is purported to have enhanced aftinity through stem-cell selection.

. Other cell-based approaches

In addition to all the adoPtive cell therapy approaches above,

liniy hon A0 alline 2 our competitors are also investigating the potential of GammaDelta T cell, CAR-NK cell, NK cell, NKT cell and CTLs either in a
preclinical or clinical setting (bo

h hematologic malignancies and solid tumors).

Manufacturing

Our intent is to rely on contract manufacturing organizations (“CMOs”), to produce our preclinical and clinical product candidates in accordance with FDA and EMA mandated regulations,
also known as current good manufacturing practices, (“cGMPs”). We employ a technical operations staff in the areas of process development, analytical development, quality control, quality
assurance, project management, and manufacturing, which will facilitate appropriate oversight of our CMOs, support of our regulatory filings and execution of clinical trials.

Government Regulation

FDA Review and Approval

. Any pr(ﬁducts we develo%will require re%ulatory review an({Aallowance to proceed prior to conducting clinical trials and additional re; ulat%ry approvals prior to commercialization. In the
United Stafes, the Federal Food, Drug anélCosme ic Act’and the Public Health Service Act and their implementing regulations govern, among other things, biopharmaceutical testing, manufacturing,
safety, efficacy, labeling, storage, record keeping, advertising, and other promotional practices.

.. Obtaining FDA approyal is a costly. and time-consuming process. Generally, FDA approval requires that preclinical studies be conducted in the laboratory and in animal model systems to gain
preliminary mfor%natlon or;lpefﬁcacy and tOyl entify any major sgfgtz concerns. Thcyfesixlts o%rtjhese stucqlles are therr)l submltteg as a part 0? an IND, which the FDx&y must review an Aaijlow)i)e?ore hulgnan
clinical trials can start. The IND includes a detaileéd description of the proposed clinical investigations. An independent Institutional Review Board (“IRB”) must also review the clinical protocol.

A company must submit an IND for each investigational medical product and specific indication(s),.and must conduct clinical sgutiies to demonstrate the safety and efficacy of the product
necessary to obtain FDA agproval, The FDA receives reports on the progress of each phase of clinical testing and may require the modification, suspension, or termination of clinical trials if an

unwarraited risk 1spresented to patients.




To gbtain FDA approval prior to marketing a biopharmaceutical product in the United States typically requires several phases of clinical trials to demonstrate the safety and efﬁcac¥ of the
E]roduct candidate. Clinical trials are the means by which experimental treatments are tested in humans and are conducted following preclinical tcstm%. Clinical trials, may be conducted within the

nited States or in foreign countries, If clinical trials are conducted_in foreign countries, the products under development as well as the trials are subject to re%ulatlons of the FDA and/or its regulatory
counterparts in the other countries. Upon successful completion of clinical trials, approval to market the treatment for a particular patient population may be requested from the FDA in the United
States and/or its counterparts in other countries.

Clinical tria]s for ther,acl})eutlc products are normally conducted in three phases. Phase 1 clinical trials are typically conducted with a small number of patients to evaluate safet%{, determine a
safe dosage range, identify side_effects, and, if possible, gain early eyidence of effectiveness. Phase 2 clinical trials are conducted with a larl%er giroup of patients to evaluate effectiveness of an
investigational product for a defined pafient population, and to detérmine comman short-term side effects and risks associated with the drugfy Phase 3 clinical trials involve large scale, multi-center,
comparative trials that are conducted to evaluate the overall benefit-risk relationship of the investigational product and to provide an adequate basis for product labeling. In sonie special cases where
the efﬁcac%/ testing of a product may present a special challenge to testing in humans, such as in the case of a vaccing to protect healthy humans from a'life-threatening disease that 1s not a naturally
occu‘rjntn hreat, cffectiveness testing may be required in animals. For certainadvanced therapies that meet eligibility criteria for expedited program Designations, clinical development may be
expedited.

Clinical trials inyolve the administration of the biologic tp_roduct candidate to healthy volunteers or patients under the supervision of qualified investigators which generally are physicians not
emplo¥ed by, or under, the control of the trial sponsor. Clinical trials are conducted under written study protocols detailing, among other things, the objectives of the clinical trial.”dosing procedures.
subject selection and exclusion criteria and the parameters to be used to monitor subject safety, mcludnﬁ stopping rules that assure a clinical trial will be_stopped if certain adverse gvents shou
occur. Each Brotocol and any amendments to the protocol must be submitted to the FDA as %:)art of the IND; Clinicaltrials must be conducted and monitored in accordance with the FDA’s regulations
comprising the Good Clinical Practice (“GCP”) requirements, including the requirement that all research subjects provide informed consent.

. Further, each clinical trial must be reviewed and approved by an IRB at or servicing each institution at which the clinical trial will be conducted. An IRB is charged with pr,otcctlng the welfare
and rl%hts of trial participants and considers items such as whether the risks to individuals participating in the clinical trials are minimized and are reasonable in relation to anticipated benefits. The
IRB afso approves the form and content of the informed consent that must be slhgned by each clinical trial subject, or their legal rePresentauve, reviews and approves the study protocol, and must
monitor the clinical trial until completed. Clinical trials involving recombinant DNA also must be reviewed by an institutional bigsafety committee, or IBC, a local institutional committee that reviews
an 4overseets asic and clinical research that utilizes recombiriant DNA at that institution. The IBC asseSses the safety of the reSearch and identifies any potential risk to public health or the
environment.

After completion of clinical trials of a new product, FDA marketing approval must be obtained. If the product is regulated as a biologic, a Biologics License Application, or BLA, is _requir,ed.
If the product is classified as a new rug, a New Drug Application, or NDAis required. The NDA or BLA must include restlts of product development activities, preclinical studies, and ¢linical trials
in addition to detailed chemistry, manufacturing and control information.

Applications submitted to the FDA are sub}Lect to an unpredictable and potentially prolonFed approval process. Despite %ood—falth communication and collaboration between the applicant and
the FDA during the development process, the FDA may ultimately decide, upon final review of the data, that the application does not satisfy its criteria for alp}t')roval or requires additional product
development or further preclinical or clinical studies. Even if FDA' regulatory approval(s) are obtained, a marketed product is subject to continual reyiew, and later discovery of {)rekusly unknown
p‘ro,1 ems or, alllure t? comply with the applicable regulatory requirements may result in restrictions on the marketing of a product or withdrawal of the product from the niarket as well as possible
civil or criminal sanctions.

Before marketing approval for a product can be secured, the facility in which the product is manufactured must be inspected by the FDA and must comply with the FDA’s current Good
Manufacturing Practices, (“cGMP”) regulations. In addition, after marketml% approval 1s secured, the manufacturing facility must be inspécted periodically for cGMP compliance by FDA inspectors,
and, 1f the facility 1s located 1n California, by inspectors from the Food and Drug Branch of the California Department of Health Services.

. Sponsors of clinical trials are required to register, and report results for, all controlled, clinical investigations, other than Phase 1 investigations, of a product subject to FDA regulation. Trial
registration may require public disclosure of certain confidential commercial development data.

Under. the Orphan Dru% Act, the FDA may grant orphan designation to a prodyct intended to, treat a rare disease or condition, which is generally a disease or condition that affects fewer than
200,000 individuals in the United States, or more than 200,000, individuals in the United States and for which there 1s no reasonable expectation that the cost of deve oping and maklrig a %ro uct
available in the United States for this type of disease or condition will be recovered from sales of the product. Orphan designation must be requested before submitting an NDA or BLCA, r{; an
designation does not convefy any advarntage in or shorten the duration of the regulatory review and approyval process,. If a product that has orphan designation subseﬁuently receives the first FDA
approva] for such product for the disease fg)r condition for which it has such designation, the product is entitled to orphan product exclusivity, which means that the FDA may not apgrove any other
applications to market the same product for the same indication for seven a(ears, except 1n limite cucumstance% such as a sl ow1n§ of clinical superiority to the rodgct with orP an exc&mvny.
gz)lnpetltors, however, ma recf'lelve aplproval of different products for the in as exclusivity or obtain ag)proval or the same product but for a different in ,1t(fatlon
0!

ication for which the orphan Ero_duct obta
r which the orphan product has exclusivity. If a product designated as an orphan product receives marketing approval for an indication broader than what is designated, it may not be entitled to
orphan product exclusivity.




Fraud and Abuse, Data Privacy and Security, and Transparency Laws and Regulations

Although we currently do not have any products on the market, we may also be subject to additional healthcare regulation and enforcement by the federal %ovemment and by autharities in the
states and foreign jurisdictions in which we ¢onduct our business. These additional healtlicare regulations could affect our current and future arrangements with healthcare proféssionals, principal
investigators, consultants, customers and third-party payors. Such laws potentially applicable to our operations include:

¢ The federal Anti-Kickback Statute makes. it 1lle§al for any person or entlt?{, including a prescrlgm,on drug manufacturer (or a party acting on its behalf), to knowmglly and willfully, directly or
indirectly, overtly or covertly, solicit, receive, offer, or pay. an¥ remuneration that is intended to induce the referral of business, including the purchase, order, or I€ase of any gdod, facility,
item or service for which payment may be made under_ a federal healthcare program, such as Medicare or Medicaid. The term “remuneration” has been broadly interpreted to include anIythmg
of value. Several courts have interpreted the statute’s intent reélulrement_to mean that 1f ang ong purpose of an arran%ement involving remuneration is to induce referrals of federal healthcare
coyered business, the Anti-Kickback Statute has been violated. The Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act of 2010, as amended by the Health Care and Education Reconciliation Act,
collectively the Affordable Care Act or ACA, among other, thmé_gs, amended, the intent requirement of the federal Anti-Kickback Statute such that a person or entity no longer needs to have
actual knowledge of the statute or specific intent to violate, in order to commit a violation.

* Federal false claims and false statement laws, including the federal civil False Claims Act, which ma?/ be enforced through whistleblower or qui tam actions, prohibit, among other things,
any person or entity from knowmtgly gresentmg, or causmg to be presented, for payment to, or approval by, federal programs, 1ncludmf% Medicare and Medicaid, claims for items or services,
Tau

including drugs, that are false or ulent or not (Prov,ide as claimed. Entfities can be held liable under, thése laws if they aré deemed To “cause” the submission of false or fraudulent claims
by, for example, providing inaccurate billing or codi

ng information to customers, promoting a product off-label, or for providing medically unnecessary services or items.
* The federal Health Insurance Portability and Accountabiljty Act of 1996, or HIPAA, created, additional federal criminal statutes that prohibit among other actions, knowingly and willfully
executing, or attempting to execute, a Scheme to defraud any healthcare benefit program, including private thir —pallitfylfoa¥ors nowingly and willfully, embezz m% or stealing from a
ully e

healthcare benefit pr(t)gram, willfully obstructing a criminal investigation of a healthcare offense, and knowingly and wi alsifying, concealing or covering up a material fact of making
any materially false, fictitious or fraudulent statément in connection with the delivery of or payment for healthcare benefits, itéms or Services.

* HIPAA, as amended by the Health Information Technolo%y for Economic and Clinical Health Act, or HITECH, and their implementing regulations, require certain types of individuals and
entities to protect the privacy, security, and electronic exchange of certain, patient data. » The federal Physician Payments Sunshine Act requires certain manufacturers of drugs, devices,
biologics and medical supplies for which payment is availabl¢ under Medicare, Medicaid or the Children’s Health Insurance Program, with specific exceptions, to report anntially to the
Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services, or CMS, information related to payments or other transfers of value made to physicians and feaching hospitals, and applicable manufacturers and
applicable group purchasing organizations to report annually to CMS ownership and investment interests held by the physicidns and their immediate family members.

» Analogous state and forelgn laws and regulations, such as state anti-kickback and false claims laws, may apply to sales or marketing arrangements and claims involving healthcare items or
services reimbursed by third party payors, 1nclud1n§ private insurers. Additionally, we may be subject to State laws that require ;l):harmaceutlcal companies to com{)l%/ with the pharmaceutical
industry’s voluntary Compliance” guidelines and thie relevant compliance gfuldance promulgated by the federal government. Further, we may be subject to state laws that require drug
manufacturers to report information related to payments and other transfers ot value to physicians, other healthcare providers and healthcare entities, or marketing expenditures, as well as state
and forelt%n laws governing the privacy and security of health information in some circumstances, many of which' differ from each other in significant ways and often are not preempted by
HIPAA, thus complicating compliance”efforts.

If our operations are found to be in_violation of any of these federal, state, local or foreign laws or regulations, we may be subf‘ect to penalties, including without limitation, administratiyve or civil
penalties, imprisonment, dama}ges, fines, dls%orggment, individual 1n;1tpnsonment, exclusion from participation in government healthcare programs, contractual damages, reputational harm, diminished
profits and future earnings, additional integrity obligations, or the curtailment or restructuring of our operations.

Reimbursement and Health Reform

Signiﬁcant uncertajnty exists as to the coverage and reimbursement status of any product candidate that receives regulatqr)fla%)roval. In the United States and markets in other countries, sales
of our product candidates, 1f approved, will depend, i part, on the extent to which third-party payors provide coverage and establish adequate reimbursement levels.

X In the United States, third-party payors include federal and state healthcare Programs, government authorities, private managed care proyiders, private health insurers and other organizations.

Third-party Payors are increasingly challénging the price, examining the medical necessity and reviewing the cost-effectiveness of medical dru%1 products and medical services, inadditign to

uestlorﬁng 1helr (siafe%y and efficacy. Such payors may limit coverage to specific drug products on an approved list, also known as a formulary, which might not include all the FDA-approved drugs
or a particular indication.




. Moreover, the process for determining whether, a third-party payor will provide coyerage for a drug product may be separate from the process for setting the price of a drug product or for
estabhshm% the reimbursement rate that such a payor will pay for the drug J)roduct. A ]ga or’s decision to provide coverage for a drug product does not imply that an adequate reimbursement rate will
be approved. Further, one payor’s determination to provide coverage for a drug product does not assure that other payors will also provide coverage for the drug product.

There are ongoing efforts b)ilgovemmental and third-party l1;>ayers to contain or reduce the costs of healthcare through various reform measures. For example, in the United States, the Federal
government passed comprehensive “healthcare reform legislation, the ‘Affordable Care Act, or ACA, in . With respect to %1annaqeutlc’a1 products, the ACA, among other things, expanded an
mcreased industry rebates for drugs coyered bﬁ/ Medicaid and made changes to the coverage requirements under Medicare Part D, Medicare’s prescription drug1 benefits program, Sirice its enactment,
there haye been judicial and Congressional challenges to certain aspects of the ACA, as well as recent efforts by the Trump administration to repeal or regace certain aspects of the . Since
January 7, President Trump has signed two Executive Orders and other directives des1gne to delay the 1m{)lem,entat10n [\) an% certain provisions of the ACA or otherwise circumvent some of the
requiréments for health insurance mandated bty the ACA. While Congress has not pasgsed comprehensive repeal legislation, two bills affecting the implementation of certain taxes under the ACA have
been signed into law, including the repeal, effective Japuary 1, 2019,70f the tax-based shargd responsibility pa¥ment 1m2]%056 by the ACA on certain individuals who fail to maintain qualifying health
coverage for all or ;[)art of a year that 1s commonly referred to as the “individual mandate”. Additionally, on anualliy ,,2018, President Trump signed a continuing resolution on appropriations for
fiscal year 2018 that delayed the implementation of certain fees mandated, bK the ACA, including the so-called “Cadillac” tax on certain hl]%}l cost emPloyer—qunsored insurance plans, the annual fee
imposed on certain health insurance providers based on market share, and the medical’device excise tax on non-exempt medical devices, Moreover, the Bipartisan Budget Act of 2018, among other
things, amends the ACA, effective January 1, 2019, to increase from 50% to 70% the point-of-sale discount that is owed by 1]13harmaceumcal manufacturers who partlclPate in Medicare Part Dand to
clos¢ the coverage gap in_most Medicare drug plans, commonly referred to as the “donut hole”. Congress may consider other legislation to repeal or repeal and replace elements of the ACA. We
continue to evaluatethe effect that the ACA and'its possible repéal and replacement has on our business.

In addition, drug pricing by pharmaceutical comganlcs continues to be under increased, scrutiny. Specifically, there have been several recent U.S. Congressional inquiries and proposed, federal
and state legislation designed To, ‘among other tl 1n(}f7s, ring more transparency to drug pricing, reduce the out of-pocket cost of prescription drugs, reyicw the relationship between pricing an
manufactyrer _patient pro%rams, reduce the cost of drugs under Medicare, and Teform government program reimbursement methodologies, At the federal level, the Trump administration’s budget
proposal for. fiscal year 2020 contains additional drug Frlce control measures that could’be enacted during the 2020 budget process or 1n other future legislation, including, for example, measures to
permit Medicare Part D tplans to negotiate the price of certain drugs under Medicare Part B, to allow some states to negotiate drug prices under Medicaid and to eliminate cost sharing for generic
drugs for, low-income patients. Whil€ any proposed measures will réquire authorization through additional le%lslatlon to become effective, Congress and the Trump administration have each indicated
that'it will continue to seek new legislative and/or administrative measures to control ¢ tg costs. At the state level, legislatures are increasingly passing legislation and, implementing rggulatlons
dem%ned to control pharmaceutical and biological product pricing, including price or patient reimbursement constraints, discounts, restrictions on certain product access and marketing cost disclosure
and Transparency measures, and, in some cases, designed {o encourage 1m?0rffa,t10n tom other countries and bulk purchasing. The implementation of cost containment measures or other healthcare
re{orms may prevent us from being able to generate revenue, attain profitability, or commercialize our current product candidates and those for which we may receive regulatory approval in the
uture.

Further, third-party payers are 1ncreas1ng13/ challenging the price of medical products and services. If purchasers or users of our products are not able to obtain adequate reimbursement for the
cost of usm%l%ur prQ(iluglts, they may forego or reduce their use. Significant uncertainty exists as to the reimbursement status of newly approved healthcare products, and whether adequate third-party
coverage will be available.

. We also are subject to various federal, state and local laws, regulations, and recommendations relating to safe working conditions, laboratory and manufacturing practices, the experimental use
of animals, and the use and disposal of hazardous or potentially hazardous substances, including radioactive compounds and infectious disease agerits, used in connection with our research. The extent
of government regulation that might result from any future legislation or administrative action cannot be accurately predicted.




Employees
As of June 30, 2019, we had 8 full-time employees. We believe that we have good relations with our employees.
Corporate Information

. We were inco%oorated in January 18, 2011 in the state of Delaware under the name “Putnam Hills Corp.” We filed a Registration Statement on Form, 10 with the U.S. Securities and Exchange
Commission, or the SEC, on August 12; 2011. On February 12, 2014, pursuant to a Share Exchange Agreement, the Registrant acquired 100% of the issued and gutstanding capital stock of DanDrit
Denmark As a result, the Regisfrant changed its name to _DanDrit Biotech USA, Inc. and becanie DanDrit Dénmark’s parent company (the “Share Exchange”). Prior to the Share Exchange, the
Registrant and an existing shareholder agréed to cancel 4,400,000 out of 5,000,000 shares of common stock of DanDrit Denmark outstaniding, and the Re%lstrant issued 1,440,000 shares of Common
Stock for legal and consu tmghservwes related to the Share Exchanfge and a future public offering, At the time of the Share Exchange each outstanding share of common stock of DanDrit Denmark
was exchanged for 1.498842 shares of Common Stock, for a total 06,000,000 shares of Common Stock, resulting in 8,040,000 shares of Common Stock outstanding immediately following the Share
Exchange, including the Escrow Shares, which are deemed issued and outstanding for accounting purposes (See also Note 1 to the Consolidated Financial Statementsg).

... On February 16, 2018, we completed our acquisition of Enochian Biogharma pursuant to an acquisition agreement, dated January 12, 2018, by and among the Registrant, its wholly owned
subsidiary DanDrit Acqtulsmon Sub, Inc., Enochian Biopharma and Weird Science (the “Acquisition Agreement”), with Enochian Biopharma sufviving as a wholly owned subsidiary of the

Registrarit. As consideration for the acquisition, the stockholders of Enochian Biopharma received (1) 18,081,962 shares of Common Stock and (i1) the right to receive Contingent Shares pro rata upon
the exercise or conversion of warrants which were outstanding at closing (See also Note 3 to the Consolidated Financial Statements).

the tick On ]E:\I/[\Ia(r)cél 2., 2018, we changed our name from “DanDrit Biotech USA, Inc.” to Enochian BioSciences, Inc.” We began trading on the NASDAQ Capital Market on December 10, 2018 under
e ticker .

Qur website is htt;tj://wwvv,.enochianbiopom. We make available free of char[ge, on Qr throu%h our internet site, our annual, quarterly, and current reports and ara/ amendments to those reports
filed or furnished pursuant to Section |3(a) of the Exchange Act as soon as reasonably practicable after we electronicaily file such material with, or furnish it to, the SEC. Information contained in our
website is not part of, nor incorporated by reference into, this report.

Emerging Growth Company

As a Company with less than $1.0 billion in revenue during our last fiscal year, we qualify as an “emerging growth company” as defined in the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act, or JOBS
Act, enelipte_d hn April 2012. An “emerging growth company” may fake advantage of reduced reporting requirements that are otherwise applicable to public companies. These provisions include, but
are not limited to:

e Reduced disclosure about our executive compensation arrangements;
e No non-binding shareholder advisory votes on executive compensation or golden parachute arrangements;
e Exemption from the auditor attestation requirement in the assessment of our internal control over financial reporting; and

e Reduced disclosure of financial information in this report, limited to two years of audited financial information and two years of selected financial information.

Each of the foregoing exemptions is currently available to us. We may take advantage of these exemptions until the last day of our fiscal year following the fifth anniversary of the date of the
first sale of our common equity securities pursuant to an effective registration statement unfer the Securities Act, which such fifth'anniversary will occur on June 30, 2020. The JOBS Act permits an
emerging growth company to take advantage of an extended transition period to comply with new or revised accountm% standards applicable to lEl)ubhc companies; provided, however, that an
gmerng growth company may elect to opt out of the extended transition period and comply with the requirements that apply to non-emerging growth companies but any such election to opt out is
irrevocable. We have not elected to opt out of the transition period.

) Because we have elected to take advantage of certain of the reduced disclosure obligations and may elect to take advantage of other reduced reporting requirements in future filings, the
information that we provide to our stockholders may be different than you might receive from other public reporting companies in which you hold equity interests.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

As a “smaller reporting company” as defined by Rule 12b-2 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Company is not required to provide the information required by this Item.

1B. Unresolved Staff Comments

There are no unresolved SEC staff comments.




Item 2. Properties
The Company currently leases the following properties:
Location Use Terms

5901 W. Olympic Blvd, Suite 419 Physical office space
Los Angeles, CA 90036

2080 Century Park East, Suite 906
Los Angeles, CA 90067

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

On November 13, 2017, the Company entered into a Lease Agreement for a term of five years and
two months from November 1, 2017. The Leased Premises consist of approximately 2,325
rentable square feet. The base rent for such leased premises increases by 3% each year over the
term, and ranges from approximately $8,719 per month for the first year to $10,107 per month for
the two months of the sixth year. The Company is entitled to $70,800 in tenant improvement
allowance in the form of free rent applied over 10 months in equal installments from January
2018.

The Company entered into a Lease Agreement for our corporate headquarters located at Century
City Medical Plaza, 2080 Century Park East, Suite 906, Los Angeles CA, 90067. We have a ten-
year lease for approximately 2,453 square feet at this location. In February 2019, we extended our
corporate headquarters to encompass the adjoining suite for approximately 1,101 square feet,
bringing the total workspace to 3,554 square feet. The new base rent for this leased premises
increases by 3% each year over the term, and ranges from $17,770 per month as of the date of the
amendment until the end of the first year to $ 23,185.82 per month for the tenth year. All other
terms remain the same. The additional suite was in the form of an amendment the original lease
as an amendment and will expire on the same date as the existing lease. The Company was
entitled to a total of $148,168 in contributions toward tenant improvements for both spaces.

From time to time, we may be involved in litigation relating to claims arising out of our operations in the normal course of business. We are not currently a party to in any legal proceeding
that we believe would have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition or operating results.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures.

Not applicable.




PART II

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities Our Common Stock trades on the Nasdaq Capital Market under the
symbol “ENOB”.

Holders of Common Stock

As of June 30, 2019 the Company had 45,273,924 shares of Common Stock issued and outstanding. On July 3, 2019, the Company issued 500,000 shares of Common Stock in accordance
with the Acquisition Agreement. As of September 27, 2019, we had 46,273,924 shares of Common Stock issued and outstanding and approximately 215 stockholders of record. The actual number of
stockholders is greater than this number of record holders and includes stockholders who are beneficial owners but whose shares are held in street name by brokers and other nominees.

Dividends

. . The Company has not declared or paid an'{/ cash dividends on its Common Stock and does not intend to declare or pay any cash dividend in the foreseeable future. The payment of dividends,
if any, is within the discretion of the Board and will depend on the Company’s earnings, if any, its capital requirements and financial condition and such other factors as the Board may consider.

Item 6. Selected Financial Data

The Registrant is a smaller reporting company and is not required to provide this information.
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following discussion of our financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction with our financial statements, and the related notes to those statements included elsewhere
in this report. In addition to the historical financial information, the following discussion and analysis contain forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. Our actual results may
differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-looking statements.

Our Business

We are a pre-clinical stage biotechnology company committed to using our genetically modified cellular and immune-therapy technologies to prevent or potentially cure H[Vand to potentially
provide life-long cancer remission of some of the deadliest cancers. We do this by genetically modifying, or re-engineering, different types of cells, depending on the therapeutic area and then
injecting or reinfusing the re-engineered cells back into the patient to provide treatment. In some of our interventions, immunotherapy is used.

To date, our operations have been funded by sales of our securities. Sales revenue will not support our current operations, and we expect this to be the case until our therapies or products are
approved for marketing in the United States and Europe. Even if we are successful in having our therapies or products approved for sale in the United States and Europe, we cannot guarantee that a
market for the product will develop. We may never be profitable.

Acquisition

On January 12, 2018, the Registrant, Ac&f]uisition Sub, Enochian Biopharma, and Weird Science entered into the Acquisition Agreement, pursuant to which on February 16, 2018, Enochian
Biopharma became a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Registrant. As consideration for the Acquisition, the stockholders of Enochian Biopharma received, in the aggregate, (i) 18,081,962 shares of the
Common Stock of the Re%lstrant and (ii) the right to receive shares of Common Stock pro rata uspon the exercise or conversion of up to 6,488,122 warrants which were outstanding at closing. As of
June 30, 2019 and June 30, 2018, there were 1,938,122, and 6,488,122 shares of Common Stock, respectively, that are contingently issuable in connection with the Acquisition of Enochian
Biopharma (the “Contingent Shares”).

As a condition of the Acquisition, Enochian Biopharma, as licensee, entered into an intellectual property license agreement with Weird Science, as licensor, which contained: (a? a perpetual,
fully paid-up, royalty-free, sublicensable, and sole and exclusive (including to the exclusion of Weird Science) worldwide license from Weird Science to Enochian Biopharma covering all Intellectual
Property Rights of Weird Science in the Field (defined below) to research, develop, use, sell, have sold, make, have made, offer for sale, import and otherwise commercialize products and to
otherwise use and practice the intellectual property and technology of Weird Science solely for the prevention, treatment, and/or amelioration of and/or therapy exclusively for HIV in humans, and
research and development exclusively relating to HIV in humans (the “Field”) worldwide; (b) a nonexclusive license from Enochian Biopharma to Weird Science to use the results of a certain stud;
related to the Field, at Weird Science’s own expense, to prosecute patents which would be owned by Weird Science; and (c) a i)erpetual, fully ﬁ)aid—up, royalty-free, sublicensable, and sole an
exclusive (including to the exclusion of Weird Science) worldwide license from Weird Science to Enochian Biopharma (which will be part of the license described in (a) above) to use such patent
applications and pafents solely in the Field, and to make, have made, use, sell, offer to sell and import inventions claimed in such patent applications and patents solely in the Field. Weird Science also
irrevocably assigned to Company all rights, title, and interest in certain study results to the extent within the Field and all inventions, improvements or discoveries made or reduced to practice in the
performance of such study to the extent within the Field (including all intellectual property therein).

In connection with the Acquisition, the Registrant, Weird Science and RS Group ApS, a significant stockholder of the Registrant (“RS Group”) entered into (a) an Investor Rights Agreement,
which provides for (A) nomination rights of each of Weird Science and RS Group to nominate a single director each, (B) both Wgeird Science and RS Group to nominate 3 mutually agreed directors,
(C) both Weird Science and RS Group to consent to any increase in the number of directors, (D) restrictions on transfer of securities held by both other than pursuant to certain permitted transferees
agreeing to be bound thereunder, and (E) demand and plgg]{- back registration rights for the former stockholders of Enochian Biopharma’ with respect to the shares of Registrant’s common stock
issued in connection with the Acquisition and; (b) a Standstill & Lock-Up Agreement, which subject to customary terms and limitations provides for (Y) restrictions on Weird Science and its affiliates
from acquiring any Common Stock other than as provided in the Acquisition Agreement or such that they would own greater than 50% of such shares of Common Stock issued and outstanding and
(2) gestrictions on sale of one half of the securities owned by Weird Science and RS Group for twelve months and the other half for 24 months subject to customary permitted dispositions and
transfers.

Also, simultaneously with closing of the Acquisition, the Registrant completed a private Rlacement offering for a total of 1,677,130 shares of Common Stock at a price of $8.000per share for
aggregate proceeds of $13,417,040, and, certain of our warrant holders exercised warrants to purchase 2,400,000 shares of Common Stock, for total proceeds to the Company of $3,295,000.
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
Year ended June 30, 2019 compared to the year ended June 30, 2018.

The following table sets forth our revenues, expenses and net income for the years ended June 30, 2019 and 2018. The financial information below is derived from our audited consolidated
financial statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report.

For the Year Ended
June 30,
2019 2018
(As Revised)
Revenues $ — —
Cost of Goods Sold $ — $ —
Gross profit (Loss) $ — $ —
Operating Expenses
General and administrative expenses 8,271,540 3,899,718
Research and development expenses 2,498,107 616,961
Depreciation and amortization 71,709 18,484
Consulting expenses 148,676 794,166
Total Operating Expense $ 10,990,032 $ 5,329,329
LOSS FROM OPERATIONS $ (10,990,032) $ (5,329,329)
Other Income (Expense)
Change in fair value of contingent consideration (7,073,579) (1,375,000)
Interest expense 43) (143,262)
(Loss) gain on currency transactions (26,313) 290,407
Other income expense, forgiveness of debt — 87,817
Interest income 73,487 45,816
Total Other Expense (7,026,448) (1,094,222)
Loss Before Income Taxes (18,016,480) (6,423,551)
Income Tax Benefit $ — $ (111,716)
NET LOSS $ (18,016,480) $ (6,311,835)
BASIC AND DILUTED LOSS PER SHARE $ (0.48) $ (0.29)

WEIGHTED AVERAGE NUMBER OF SHARES OF COMMON STOCK
OUTSTANDING - BASIC AND DILUTED 37,552,062 21,940,489




For the Year Ended

June 30,
2019 2018
(As Revised)
Net Loss $ (18,016,480) $ (6,311,835)
Currency translation (103,862) (147,153)
Other Comprehensive Loss $ (18,120,342) $ (6,458,988)

Revenues

We are a development-stage biotechnology company, and we do not anticipate earning any revenues until our therapies or products are approved for marketing and sale.

Expenses

Our operating expenses for the years ended June 30, 2019 and 2018 were $10,990,032 and $5,329,329, respectively, representing an increase of $5,660,703, or 106.2%. The largest contributor
to the operating expenses for the year ended June 30, 2019 was the increase in general and administrative expenses in connection with the continued growth in our research and development efforts,
the increase in personnel from 4 to 8 full-time employees resulting in an increase in salaries and related expenses, and the non-cash compensation expense.

General and administrative expenses for the years ended June 30, 2019 and 2018 were $8,271,540 and $3,899,718, respectively, representing an increase of $4,371,822, or 112.1%. General
and administrative expenses include audit and non-cash compensation expense, board compensation, filing fees, corporate taxes, security expenses, legal fees, office feases, insurance, patent fees
salaries, non-cash compensation expense and travel expenses. The increase was primarily due to the increase in non-cash compensation expense of $1,867,030, an increase salaries and related
expenses of $836,876, and an increase in security expenses of $780,015.

Research and development expenses for the years ended June 30, 2019, and June 30, 2018, were $2,498,107 and $616,961, respectively, representing an increase of $1,881,146 or
approximately 304.9%. The increase was f)rlmarlly atfributable to R&D consulting fees of $1,500,000, with the balance of expenditures related to the development of and pre—chnlcaf studies for
OB-HVOI and ENOB-HV11/12, and related consumables cost, reagent cost, and general laboratory expenses
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Consulting expenses for the years, ended June 30, 2019 and 2018 were $148,676 and $794,166, respectively, representing a decrease of $645,490, or 81.3%. The decrease is primarily related
to the one-time consulting fees during the year ended June 30, 2018 in connection with the acquisition of Enochian BioPharma, Inc.

Other Expense

Net eernse for the years ended June 30, 2019 and 2018 was $g7,026,448) and $(1,094,222), respectively, representing an increase of $5,932,226 or 542.1%. The increase was due primarily to
the change in the fair value of the Contingent Consideration of $5,698,579.

Net Loss

Net loss for the years ended June 30, 2019 and June 30, 2018 was $18,016,480 and $6,311,835, respectively, representing an increase in the loss of $11,704,645, or 185.4%. The increase in
net loss was primarily due to the increase in 7%cncral administrative expenses of $4,371,822, and the research and development efforts in the amount of $1,881,146, along with the change in fair value
of the Contingent Consideration of $5,698,579.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

We have historically satisfied our capital and liquidity requirements through funding from shareholders, the issuance of the issuance and exercise of warrants, and the sale of our Common
Stock. We anticipate continuing to incur operating losses for at least the next several years. While we expect our rate of cash usage to increase in the future, in particular, to support our product
development endeavors, we believe that the available cash resources will enable us to maintain our currently planned operations through at least the next twelve months from the date the financial
statements are issued.

We may however need additional funds for (al){gjurchase of equipment and, (b) research and development, s%eciﬁcallY to open an Investigational New Drug Application (“IND”) (The first step
in the drug review process by the FDA) for ENOB-HVO0I1 and to continue our research and development of ENOB-HV11/12, and possible future strategic acquisitions of businesses, products or
technologies complementary to our business. If additional funds are required, we may raise such funds from time to time through public or private sales of our equity or debt securities. Financing may
not be available on acceptable terms, or at all, and our failure to raise capital when needed could materially adversely impact our growth plans and our financial condition and results of operations.

As of June 30, 2019, the Company had $12,282,224 in cash and working capital of $11,384,571 as compared to $15,600,865 in cash and working capital of $14,888,293 as of June 30, 2018, a
decrease of 21.3 % and 23.5 %, respectively. The decrease is primarily due to an increase in research and development costs of $1,881,146, an increase in payroll costs of $837,876, and an increase in
other general and administrative costs of $3,499,711.

Private Placements
On February 16, 2018, we completed a private placement offering of 1,677,130 shares of Common Stock at a price of $8.00 per share for total proceeds to the Company of $13,417,040.
The private placements were made directly by the Company in reliance upon Section 4(a)(2) and/or Regulation S, and no underwriter or placement agent was engaged by the Company.
No private placements were offered in the fiscal year ended June 30, 2019.

Warrant Exercises

On February 16, 2018, certain of our warrant holders exercised warrants to purchase 2,400,000 shares of Common Stock for total proceeds to the Company of $3,295,000.
On December 27, 2018, certain of our warrant holders exercised warrants to purchase 1,307,693 shares of Common Stock for total proceeds to the Company of $1,700,000.

On June 27, 2019, certain of our warrant holders exercised warrants to purchase 3,242,307 shares of Common Stock for total proceeds to the Company of $ 4,319,999.
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Cash Flows
Year ended June 30, 2019 compared to the year ended June 30, 2018

Following is a summary of the Company’s cash flows (used by) provided by operating, investing, and financing activities:

For the Year Ended
June 30,
2019 2018
(As Revised)
Net Cash Used by Operating Activities $ (8,507,341) $ (4,338,269)
Net Cash Used by Investing Activities $ (716,669) $ (575,732)
Net Cash Provided by Financing Activities $ 6,020,000 $ 16,712,715
Loss on Currency Translation S (114,631) $ (139,561)
Net decrease in Cash and Cash Equivalents $ (3,318,641) $ 11,659,153

. At June 30, 2019 we had cash and cash equivalents of $12,282,224, a decrease of $3,318,641, or 21.3%, when compared to the June 30, 2018 balance of $15,600,865.This decrease was
;tgrlmar_lly due to cash used bfl o;f)eratmg activities as we expand our operations and continue growing our research and development activities, partially offset by an increase in net cash provided by
inancing activities, as a result of exercised warrants by certain of our shareholders.

HVI l/léVe plan to use our cash and cash equivalents to fund research and development, specifically to open an IND for ENOB-HVO01 and to continue our research and development of ENOB-

. Net cash used by operating activities for the years ended June 30, 2019 and 2018 was $8,507,341 and $4,338,269, respectively, representing an increase of $4,169,072, or 96.1%. The largest
contributors to the operating expenses for the year ended June 30, 2019 were the increase in research and development expenses, the increase in personnel resulting from increases in salaries and
related costs, and the increase in non-cash compensation expense.

Changes in assets and liabilities as of June 30, 2019 compared to June 30, 2018 included the following:

For the year ended June 30, 2019, other receivables decreased $119,832 primarilg for research and development tax credits, prepaid expenses increased $160,940 primarily due to an insurance
prepayment, accounts payable decreased $29,946, and accrued expenses increased $269,940.

For the {ear ended June 30, 2018 other receivables decreased $108,005 primarily for research and development tax credits prepaid expenses decreased $138,841, related party payables
decreased $87,817, accounts payable decreased $119,575 and accrued expenses decreased $161,321.

~_ Net cash used bﬁ investing activities for the years ended June 30, 2019 and 2018 was $716,669 and $575,732, respectivelﬁ, representing an increase of $140,937, or 24.5%. The increase is
primarily due to the purchase of equipment for the Company’s laboratory and the setup of the offices in the Los Angeles Corporate Headquarters of approximately $687,000 offset by the reduction of
transactions related to the acquisition of approximately $546,000.

Net cash provided by financing activities for the years ended June 30, 2019 and 2018 was $6,020,000 and $16,712,715, respectively, representin%a decrease of $10,692,715, or 64.0%. The
decrease was primarily due to the Company not seeking funding through private placements during the year ended June 30, 2019. The financing for the Fiscal year ended June 30, 2019, resulted in
warrants exercised by our warrant holders.




Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
As of June 30, 2019, and 2018, we had no off-balance sheet arrangements. We are not aware of any material transactions, which are not disclosed in our consolidated financial statements.
Significant Accounting Policies and Critical Accounting Estimates

The methods, estimates, and judgments that we use in applying our accounting policies have a significant impact on the results that we report in our consolidated financial statements. Some of
our accounting policies require us to make difficult and subjective judgments, often as a result of the need to make estimates regarding matters that are inherently uncertain. In addition, Section 107 of
the JOBS Act provides that an emerging growth company can take advantage of the extended transition period provided in Section 7(a)(2)(B) of the Securities Act for complying with new or revised
accounting standards. In other words, an emerging ;T’rowth com ang/ can delay the adoption of certain accounting standards until those standards would otherwise apply to private companies. We are
not choosing to “opt-out” of this provision. Section 107 of the JOBS Act provides that our decision to opt-out of the extended transition period for complying with new or revised accounting standards
is irrevocable. As a result of our election, not to “opt-out” of Section 107, the Company’s financial statements may not be comparable to companies that comply with public company effective dates.

Our most critical accounting estimates include:

Property and Equipment— Property and equipment are stated at cost. Expenditures for major renewals and betterments that extend the useful lives of property and equipment are capitalized,
upon being placed in service. Expenditures for maintenance and repairs are charged to expense as incurred. Depreciation is computed for financial statement purposes on a straight-line basis over the
estimated useful lives of the assets which range from four to nine years.

Intangible Assets—The Company has both Definite and Indefinite life intangible assets.

Definite life intangible assets include patents. The Company accounts for definite life intangible assets in accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Accounting
Standards Codification (“ASC”) Togic 350, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets.” Intangible assets are recorded at cost. Patent costs consist of costs incurred to acquire the underlying patent. If 1t
is determined that a patent will not be issued, the related remaining capitalized patent costs are charged to expense. Intangible assets are amortized on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful
life. The estimated useful life of patents is twenty years from the date of application.

_Indefinite life intangible assets include license agreements and %oodwill. The Company accounts for indefinite life intangible assets in accordance with ASC 350, “Goodwill and Other
Intangible Assets.” License agreements cost represent the Fair Value of the license agreement on the date ac%ulred and are tested annually for impairment. The fair value analysis performed on the
license agreements and the fair value analysis performed on goodwill supported that both indefinite life intangible assets are not impaired as of June 30, 2019.




Fair Value of Financial Instruments - The Company accounts for fair value measurements for financial assets and financial liabilities in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 820. The
authoritative guidance, which, among other things, defines fair value, establishes a consistent framework for measuring fair value and expands disclosure for each major asset and liability category
measured at fair value on either a recurring or nonrecurring basis. Fair value is defined as the exit price, representing the amount that would either be received to sell an asset or be paid to transfer a
liability in an orderly transaction between market participants. As such, fair value is a market—baseg measurement that should be determined based on assumptions that market participants would use
ifn1 ricing an asset or liability. As a basis for considering such assumptions, the guidance establishes a three-tier fair value hierarchy, which prioritizes the inputs used in measuring fair value as

ollows:

e Level 1. Observable inputs such as quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;
e Level 2. Inputs, other than the quoted prices in active markets, that are observable either directly or indirectly; and

e Level 3. Unobservable inputs in which there is little or no market data, which require the reporting entity to develop its own assumptions.

_ Unless otherwise disclosed, the fair value of the Company’s financial instruments including cash, accounts receivable, prepaid expenses, investments, accounts payable, accrued expenses,
capital lease obligations, and notes payable approximate their recorded values due to their short-term maturities.

Stock Options and Warrants - The Company has granted stock options to certain employees, officers, and directors that were subsequently converted to Grant Warrants. During the years
presented in the accomganying consolidated financial statements, the Company has granted stock options and warrants. The Company accounts for options and warrants in accordance with the
provisions of FASB AS Tospic 718, Comf)ensation — Stock Compensation. Non-cash compensation costs for employee compensation and consulting fees for the years ended June 30, 2019 and 2018
were $2,124,967 and $257,937, respectively (see Note 8).

Stock-Based Compensation —The Company records stock-based compensation in accordance with ASC 718, Compensation—Stock Compensation Non-Employees. All transactions in
which goods or services are the consideration received for the issuance of equity instruments are accounted for based on the fair value of the consideration received or the fair value of the equity
instrument issued, whichever is more reliably measurable. Equity instruments issued to employees and the cost of the services received as consideration are measured and recognized based on the fair
value of the equity instruments issued and are recognized over the employees required service period, which is generally the vesting period. (See Note 8)

Accounting Estimates - The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosures of contingent assefs and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amount of revenues and expenses during
the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimated.

Recently Enacted Accounting Standards

For a description of accounting changes and recent accounting standards, including the expected dates of adoption and estimated effects, if any, on our consolidated financial statements, see
“Note 1: Recent Accounting Pronouncements”™ in the financial statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

The Registrant is a smaller reporting company and is not required to provide this information.
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PUBLICACCOU

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of Enochian Biosciences, Inc.:

Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Enochian Biosciences, Inc. (“the Company”) as of June 30, 2019 and 2018, the related consolidated statements of operations, other
comprehensive loss, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the years in the two-year period ended June 30, 2019 and the related notes (collectively referred to as the “financial statements”).
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of June 30, 2019 and 2018, and the results of its operations
and its cash flows for each of the years in the two-year period ended June 30, 2019, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Basis for Opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s financial statements based on our audits. We are a
public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (“PCAOB”) and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance
with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial
reporting. As part of our audits, we are required to obtain an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Company’s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.

Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks.
Such procedures included examining on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and
significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

/s/ Sadler, Gibb & Associates, LLC

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2018.

Salt Lake City, UT
September 27, 2019
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ASSETS
Current Assets:
Cash
Other receivables
Prepaid expenses
Total Current Assets

Property and equipment, net

OTHER ASSETS

Definite life intangible assets, net
Indefinite life intangible assets
Goodwill

Deposits and other assets

Total Other Assets

TOTAL ASSETS

ENOCHIAN BIOSCIENCES INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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For the Year Ended

June 30,
2019 2018
(As Revised)

12,282,224 $ 15,600,865
20,794 122,866
191,969 38,284
12,494,987 15,762,015
687,517 27,402
93,299 111,489
154,824,000 154,824,000
11,640,000 11,640,000
137,550 137,550
166,694,849 166,713,039
179,877,353 $ 182,502,456




ENOCHIAN BIOSCIENCES INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS (CONTINUED)

LIABILITIES

CURRENT LIABILITIES:
Accounts payable — trade
Accounts payable - non-trade
Accrued expenses

Total Current Liabilities

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES:
Contingent Consideration Liability

Total Liabilities

STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY:

Preferred stock, $0.0001 par value; 10,000,000 shares authorized; no shares issued and outstanding

Common stock, par value $0.0001, 100,000,000 shares authorized, 45,273,924 shares issued and outstanding at June 30, 2019;
36,163,924 issued and outstanding at June 30, 2018

Additional paid-in capital

Accumulated deficit

Other comprehensive income

Total Stockholders’ Equity

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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For the Year Ended

June 30,
2019 2018
(As Revised)
538,563 $ 571,809
235,000 235,000
336,853 66,913
1,110,416 873,722
5,667,000 22,891,000
6,777,416 $ 23,764,722
_ $ _

4,527 3,616
225,765,432 193,283,798
(52,771,840) (34,755,360)
101,818 205,680
173,099,937 158,737,734
179,877,353 $ 182,502,456




Revenues
Cost of Goods Sold
Gross profit (Loss)

Operating Expenses

General and administrative expenses
Research and development expenses
Depreciation and amortization
Consulting expenses

Total Operating Expense

LOSS FROM OPERATIONS

Other Income (Expense)

Change in fair value of contingent consideration
Interest expense

Gain (loss) on currency transactions

Other income (expense), forgiveness of debt
Interest income

Total Other Expense

Loss Before Income Taxes
Income Tax Benefit

NET LOSS

BASIC AND DILUTED LOSS PER SHARE

ENOCHIAN BIOSCIENCES INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

WEIGHTED AVERAGE NUMBER OF SHARES OF COMMON STOCK

OUTSTANDING - BASIC AND DILUTED

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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For the Year Ended

June 30,
2019 2018
(As Revised)

$ _ _

$ — $ —

$ o $ =
8,271,540 3,899,718
2,498,107 616,961
71,709 18,484
148,676 794,166
$ 10,990,032 $ 5,329,329
$ (10,990,032) $ (5,329,329)
(7,073,579) (1,375,000)
(43) (143,262)
(26,313) 290,407
— 87,817
73,487 45,816
(7,026,448) (1,094,222)
(18,016,480) (6,423,551)
$ — $ (111,716)
$ (18,016,480) $ (6,311,835)
$ (0.48) $ (0.29)
37,552,062 21,940,489




ENOCHIAN BIOSCIENCES INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

For the Year Ended
June 30,
2019 2018
(As Revised)
Net Loss $ (18,016,480) $ (6,311,835)
Currency Translation, Net of Taxes (103,862) (147,153)
Other Comprehensive Loss $ (18,120,342) $ (6,458,988)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.




ENOCHIAN BIOSCIENCES INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

For the Years Ended June 30,2019 and June 30, 2018

Accumulated
Additional Other
Common Paid-In Accumulated Comprehensive
# of Shares Shares Capital Deficit Income Total
July 1, 2017 12,433,290 $ 1,243  $ 29,622,183  $(28,443,525) $ 352,833 § 1,532,734
Common stock issued as compensation 62,687 6 112,830 — — 112,836
Private placement of units 1,231,561 123 1,600,906 1,601,029
Stock-based compensation 63,717 — — 63,717
Stock issued in exchange for services 18,750 2 104,998 — — 105,000
Stock issued related to conversion of convertible promissory note 258,544 26 423,076 — — 423,102
Stock issued pursuant to warrants exercised 2,400,000 240 3,294,760 — — 3,295,000
Stock issued pursuant to private placement 1,677,130 168 13,416,872 — — 13,417,040
Stock issued pursuant to Acquisition Agreement 18,081,962 1,808 144,653,888 — — 144,655,696
Imputed intrinsic value and interest for Convertible Notes — — (5,765) — — (5,765)
Amortization of the interest on Convertible notes on December 1, 2017 — — (3,667) — — (3,667)
Comprehensive Loss
Net Loss — — — (6,311,835) — (6,311,835)
Other Comprehensive Loss —
Foreign Currency Translation Adjustment — — — — (147,153) (147,153)
July 1, 2018 (As Revised) 36,163,924 $ 3,616 $193,283,798  $ (34,755,360) $ 205,680 $158,737,734
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ENOCHIAN BIOSCIENCES INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (CONTINUED)
For the Years Ended June 30,2019 and June 30, 2018

Accumulated
Additional Other
Common Paid-In Accumulated Comprehensive
# of Shares Shares Capital Deficit Income Total

July 1, 2018 (As Revised)

36,163,924 S 3,616 5193,283,798 §(34,755,360) $ 205,680

Stock issued pursuant to warrants exercised 4,550,000 455 6,019,545 — —
Contingent Share issued pursuant to Acquisition Agreement 4,550,000 455 24,297,123 — —
Stock-based compensation 2,124,967 — —
Stock issued in exchange for services 10,000 1 39,999 —

Net Loss

Other Comprehensive Loss

Foreign currency translation adjustment
June 30, 2019

— (18,016,480) —

— — (103,862)

$ 158,737,734

6,020,000
24,297,578
2,124,967
40,000

(18,016,480)

(103,862)

45273924 $ 4527 $225765432 $(52,771,840) $ 101,818

$ 173,099,937

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
NET LOSS

ADJUSTMENT TO RECONCILE NET LOSS TO NET
CASH USED IN OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Depreciation and amortization

Change in contingent consideration liability

Non-cash stock-based compensation expense

Loss on forgiveness on note receivable

Gain on forgiveness of debt, related party

Accretion of discount on notes payable

CHANGES IN ASSETS AND LIABILITIES:

Other receivables

Prepaid expenses/deposits

Accounts payable

Accrued interest on notes receivable

Accrued Expenses

NET CASH USED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Net cash used for acquisition of Enochian BioPharma Inc.
Notes receivable

Purchase of property and equipment

NET CASH USED BY INVESTING ACTIVITIES

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Proceed from the issuance of common stock

Proceeds from exercise of warrants

NET CASH PROVIDED BY FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Gain (loss) on currency translation

NET CHANGE IN CASH EQUIVALENTS

CASH, BEGINNING OF PERIOD

CASH, END OF PERIOD

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

ENOCHIAN BIOSCIENCES INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
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For the Year Ended

June 30,
2019 2018
(As Revised)

$ (18,016,480) $ (6,311,835)
71,709 18,484

7,073,578 1,375,000

2,164,967 281,545

— 457,813
— (87,817)

— 11,997

119,831 108,005
(160,940) (138,841)

(29,946) 119,575
— (10,874)
269,940 (161,321)
$ (8,507,341) $ (4,338,269)
— (294,933)
— (250,799)
(716,669) (30,000)
(716,669) (575,732)

— 16,712,715

6,020,000 —

$ 6,020,000 $ 16,712,715
$ (114,631) $ (139,561)
$ (3,318,641) $ 11,659,153
$ 15,600,865 $ 3,941,712
$ 12,282,224 $ 15,600,865




ENOCHIAN BIOSCIENCES INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURES OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION
Cash Paid during the year for:
Interest
Income Taxes

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURES OF NON-CASH INVESTING
AND FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Contingent Shares issued pursuant with the Acquisition Agreement

Discount for imputed interest on non-interest bearing Convertible Notes Payable

Issuance of stock for compensation

Compensation for the issuance of stock to officers and directors

Convertible Notes payable converted to 258,544 Common Shares

Compensation for the issuance of stock for consulting services

Common stock issued and contingent consideration shares of Common Stock to acquire Enochian BioPharma, Inc.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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$ 43 $ 143,235
$ — $ —

$ 24,297,579 $ —
3 — $ (9,432)
$ — $ 112,837
$ 2,124,967 $ 63,717
$ — $ 401,673
$ 40,000 $ 105,000
$ — $ 166,469,000




ENOCHIAN BIOSCIENCES INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 1 — SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Business and Basis of Presentation — Enochian BioSciences, Inc., (“Enochian”, or “Registrant”, and together with its subsidiaries, the “Company”, “we” or “us:[’) engages in the research and
development, and clinical trials of pharmaceutical and biological products for the human treatment of HIV and cancer with the intent to manufacturer said products. The Registrant was orl%mally
incorporated in the State of Delaware on January 18, 2011. On March 2, 2018, the Registrant amended its articles of incorporation changing the name of the Company to Enochian BioSciences, Inc.

Subsidiaries

Enochian Biopharma Inc. (“Enochian Biopharma™”) was incorporated on May 19, 2017 in [Delaware] and is a 100% owned subsidiary of the Registrant. Enochian Biopharma owns a
perpetual, fully paid-up, royalty-free, sublicensable, and sole and exclusive worldwide license to research, develop, use, sell, have sold, make, have made, offer for sale, import and otherwise
commercialize certain intellectual pr(()i?ert in cellular therapies for the prevention, treatment, amelioration of and/or therapy exclusively for HIV in humans, and research and development exclusive(l{)y
Eeolzllgng to HIV in humans (the “Field”). The accompanying financial statements include the accounts of Enochian Biopharma from the date of the acquisition which was completed on February 16,

Enochian Biosciences Denmark ApS, a Danish corporation was incorporated on April 1, 2001 (“Enochian Denmark”). On February 12, 2014, in accordance with the terms and conditions of
the Share Exchange Agreement, the Comé)any acgulred Enochian Denmark and it became a 100% owned subsidiary of the Registrant subject to 185,053 shares of common stock of the Registrant held
in escrow according to Danish law (the “Escrow Shares”). As of June 30, 2019, there are 92, 237, Escrow Shares remaining.

Acquisition of Enochian Biopharma - On January 12, 2018, the Registrant, Ac?uisition Sub, Enochian Biopharma and Weird Science entered into the Acguisition Agreement, pursuant to

which on February 16, 2018, Enochian Biopharma became a Whollﬁ owned subsidiary of the Registrant. As consideration for the Acquisition, the stockholders of Enochian Biopharma received (i)

18,081,962 shares of the Common Stock of the Registrant and (ii) the right to receive earn-out shares of Common Stock (“Contingent Shares™) pro rata upon the exercise or conversion of warrants,

ghicl}l}}welg'ou'flstanding at closing. As of June 30, 2019, and June 30, 2018, 1,938,122 and 6,488,122 Contingent Shares, respectively are contingently issuable in connection with the Acquisition of
nochian Biopharma.

Consolidation - For the years ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, the consolidated financial statements include the accounts and operations of the Registrant, Enochian Biosciences Denmark ApS
and Enochian BioPharma. All material inter-company transactions and accounts have been eliminated in the consolidation.

Functional Currency / Foreign currency translation - The functional currency of Enochian Denmark is the Danish Kroner (“DKK”). The Company’s reporting currency is the U.S. Dollar
for the purpose of these financial statements. The Company’s balance sheet accounts are translated into U.S. dollars at the period-end exchange rates and all revenue and expenses are translated into
U.S. dollars at the average exchange rates prevailing during years ended June 30, 2019 and 2018. Translation gains and losses are deferred and accumulated as a component of other comprehensive
income in stockholders’ equity. Transaction gains and losses that arise from exchange rate fluctuations from transactions denominated in a currency other than the functional currency are included in
the statement of operations as‘incurred.

. Cash and Cash Equivalents - The Company considers all highly liquid debt instruments purchased with a maturity of three months or less to be cash e%uivalents. The Company had balances
held in financial institutions in Denmark and in the United States in excess of federally insured States amounts at June 30, 2019 and 2018 of $12,282,224 and $15,600,865, respectively.

Property and Equipment - Property and equipment are stated at cost. Expenditures for major renewals and betterments that extend the useful lives of property and equipment are capitalized,
upon being placed in service. Expenditures for maintenance and repairs are charged to expense as incurred. Depreciation is computed for financial statement purposes on a straight-line basis over the
estimated useful lives of the assets which range from four to ten years (See Note 4).

F-10




ENOCHIAN BIOSCIENCES INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 1 — SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Intangible Assets—The Company has both Definite and Indefinite life intangible assets.

Definite life intangible assets include patents. The Company accounts for definite life intangible assets in accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Accounting
Standards Codification (“ASC”) Togic 350, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets”. Intangible assets are recorded at cost. Patent costs consist of costs incurred to acquire the underlying patent. If 1t
is determined that a patent will not be issued, the related remaining capitalized patent costs are charged to expense. Intangible assets are amortized on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful
life. The estimated useful life of patents is twenty years from the date of application.

_Indefinite life intangible assets include license agreements and goodwill. The Company accounts for indefinite life intangible assets in accordance with ASC 350, “Goodwill and Other
Intangible Assets”. License agreement cost represent the Fair Value of the license agreement on the date acquired and are tested annually for impairment. The fair value analysis performed on the
license agreements, and the fair value analysis performed on goodwill supported that both indefinite life intangible assets are not impaired as of June 30, 2019. (See Note 5)

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets - Long-lived assets, such as property, plant, and equipment and patents are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. Circumstances which could trigger a review include, but are not limited to: significant decreases in the market price of the asset;
significant adverse changes in the business climate or legal factors; current period cash flow or operating losses combined with ahistory of losses or a forecast of continuing losses associated with the
use of the asset; and current expectation that the asset will more likely than not be sold or disposed of significantly before the end of its estimated useful life.

Recoverability of assets to be held and used is measured by a comparison of the carrying amount of an asset to estimated undiscounted future cash flows expected to be generated by the asset.
If the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its estimated undiscounted future cash flows, an impairment charge is recognized by the amount by which the carrying amount of the asset exceeds the fair
value of the asset. Assets to be disposed of would be separately c{)resented in the balance sheet and reported at the lower of the carrying amount or fair value 1){355 costs to sell, and would no longer be
depreciated. The depreciable basis of assets that are impaired and continue in use is their respective fair values.

Research and Development Eiﬁenses - The Company expenses research and development costs incurred in formulating, improviéljg, validating and creating alternative or modified processes
related to and expanding the use of the HIV and Cancer therapies and technologies for use in the prevention, treatment, amelioration of and/or therapy for HIV and Cancer. Research and development
expenses for the year ended June 30, 2019 and 2018 amounted to $2,498,107 and $616,961, respectively.

Income Taxes - The Company accounts for income taxes in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 740 Accounting for Income Taxes, which requires an asset and liability approach for
accounting for income taxes. (See Note 7)
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ENOCHIAN BIOSCIENCES INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 1 — SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Loss Per Share - The Company calculates earnings/ (losses) per share in accordance with FASB ASC 260 Earnings Per Share. Basic earnings per common share (EPS) are based on the
weighted average number of shares of Common Stock outstanding durin% each period. Diluted earnings per common share are based on shares outstanding (comﬁuted as under basic EPS) and
Eotentlally dilutive common shares. Potential shares of Common Stock included in the diluted earnings ger share calculation include in-the-money stock options that have been granted but have not

een exercised. The shares of Common Stock outstanding at June 30, 2019 and 2018 were 45,273,924 and 36,163,924, respectively. Because of the net loss for the twelve months ended June 30, 2019
and June 30, 2018, the dilutive shares for both periods were excluded from the Diluted EPS calculation as the effect of these potential shares of Common Stock is anti-dilutive. As of June 30, 2019
and 2018 there were 4,393,005 and 12,976,244, respectively, potential dilutive shares that needed to be considered as common share equivalents.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments - The Company accounts for fair value measurements for financial assets and financial liabilities in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 820. The
authoritative guidance, which, among other things, defines fair value, establishes a consistent framework for measuring fair value and expands disclosure for each major asset and liability category
measured at fair value on either a recurring or nonrecurring basis. Fair value is defined as the exit price, representing the amount that would either be received to sell an asset or be paid to transfer a
liability in an orderly transaction between market participants. As such, fair value is a market-based measurement that should be determined based on assumptions that market participants would use

ifn1 ricing an asset or liability. As a basis for considering such assumptions, the guidance establishes a three-tier fair value hierarchy, which prioritizes the inputs used in measuring fair value as
ollows:

e Level 1. Observable inputs such as quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;
e Level 2. Inputs, other than the quoted prices in active markets, that are observable either directly or indirectly; and

e Level 3. Unobservable inputs in which there is little or no market data, which require the reporting entity to develop its own assumptions.

_ Unless otherwise disclosed, the fair value of the Company’s financial instruments including cash, accounts receivable, prepaid expenses, investments, accounts payable, accrued expenses,
capital lease obligations and notes payable approximates their recorded values due to their short-term maturities.

. The following table sets forth the liabilities at June 30, 2019 and 2018, which is recorded on the balance sheet at fair value on a recurring basis by level within the fair value hierarchy. As
required, these are classified based on the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value measurement:

Fair Value Measurements at Reporting Date Using

Quoted Prices in Significant Other
Active Markets for Identical Assets Inputs Observable Inputs Significant Other Unobservable
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
Contingent Consideration Liability — — 5,667,000
The roll forward of the contingent consideration liability is as follows:
Balance June 30, 2018 $ 22,891,000
Contingent Shares issued pursuant to the
Acquisition Agreement $ (24,297,579)
Fair value adjustment $ 7,073,579
Balance June 30, 2019 $ 5,667,000
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ENOCHIAN BIOSCIENCES INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Stock Options and Warrants - The Company has granted stock options to certain employees, officers and directors that were subsequentlfy converted to Grant Warrants. During the years
presented in the accomganying consolidated financial statements, the Comﬁany has granted stock options and warrants. The Company accounts for options and warrants in accordance with the
provisions of FASB AS Toyic 718, Com})ensation — Stock Compensation. Non-cash compensation costs for employee compensation and consulting fees for the years ended June 30, 2019 and 2018
were $2,124,967 and $257,937, respectively (see Note 8).

Stock-Based Compensation —The Company records stock-based compensation in accordance with ASC 718, Stock Compensation. .All transactions in which goods or services are the
consideration received for the issuance of equity instruments are accounted for based on the fair value of the consideration received or the fair value of the equity instrument 1ssued, whichever is more
reliably measurable. Equity instruments issued to employees and the cost of the services received as consideration are measured and recognized based on the fair value of the equity instruments issued
and are recognized over the empl(gees required service %eriod, which is generally the vesting period. For the year ended June 30, 2019, the Company issued 10,000 shares at a value of $40,000. For
the year ended June 30, 2018, the Company issued 18,750 shares valued at $105,000 (See Note 8).

Accounting Estimates - The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amount of revenues and expenses during
the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimated. Significant estimates include the fair value and potential impairment of intangible assets, depreciation of fixed assets, and fair
value of equity instruments issued.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements - In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-02 - Leases (Topic 842), which sets out the principles for the recognition, measurement,
presentation and disclosure of leases for both }]l)arties to a contract (i.e. lessees and lessors). The new standard requires lessees to apply a dual approach, classifying leases as either financing or
operating leases based on the principle of whether or not the lease is effectively a financed purchase by the lessee. This classification will determine whether lease expense is recognized based on an
effective interest method or on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease, resSectively. A lessee is also required to record a right-of-use asset and a lease liability for all leases with a term of
greater than 12 months regardless of their classification. Leases with a term of 12 months or less will be accounted for similar to existing guidance for operating leases today. The new standard
requires lessors to account for leases usin% an approach that is substantially equivalent to existing guidance for sales-type leases, direct financing leases and operating leases. The standard is effective
for fiscal years beginning after January 1,2019. The Company is in the process of evaluating the impact of this new guidance.

On March 30, 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-09, Improvements to Employee Share-Based Payment Accounting. For public business entities, the ASU is effective for annual reporting
periods beginning after December 15, 2016, including interim periods within those annual reporting periods. For all other entities, the ASU is effective for annual reporting periods beginning after
December 15, 2017, and interim periods within annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2018. The Company’s adoption of these SEC amendments did not have a material effect on the
Company’s reporting of financial position, results of operations, cash flows or stockholders’ equity.

Other recent accounting pronouncements issued by the FASB do not or are not believed to by management to have a material impact on the Company's present or future financial statements.

. Reclassification— Certain balances reported in the financial statements as of June 30, 2018 have been reclassified to conform with the headings used as of June 30, 2019 and including the
reclassification of $257,937 of non-cash compensation expense to general and administrative expenses.
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ENOCHIAN BIOSCIENCES INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 2--- REVISION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Company discovered that it had incorrectly classified the intangible assets that were purchased as part of the acquisition of Enochian Biopharma, Inc. as finite-lived (amortizable), rather than
indefinite-lived intangible assets (not amortized). ASC 350- Intangibles- Goodwill and Other requires that all intangible assets acquired in a business combination that are used in research and
development activities (i.e., in-process research and development (IPR&D) assets) be capitalized as indefinite-lived intangible assets, regardless of whether they have an alternative future use. The
impact of this change is that the reversal of the accumulated depreciation related to the intangible assets for the year ended June 30, 2018, would need to be evaluated to determine if the correction
was material enough to require a restatement.

The Company has revised its previously issued consolidated financial statements for the year ended June 30, 2018 to correct the error that occurred during that fiscal year. The Company’s
Management assessed the materiality of the error identified in accordance with ASC 250-10-S99-2, Considering the Effects of Prior Year Misstatements when Quantifying Misstatements in Current
Year Financial Statements and concluded based on qualitative and quantitative considerations that the effect of the correction in the period in which the related misstatement originated was not
material.

The following table sets forth the impact on the lines impacted by the correction on the Company’s financial statements as of June 30, 2018.

For the year ended For the year

ended June

June 30,2018 Adjustments 30,2018

(As Reported) (As Revised)
Balance Sheet:
Definite life intangible assets, net $ 111,489 $ 111,489
Indefinite life intangible assets $ 151,983,970 $ 2,840,030 $ 154,824,000
Total Assets $ 179,662,426  § 2,840,030 $ 182,502,456
Statement of Operations:
Depreciation & Amortization $ 2,858,514 § (2,840,030) $ 18,484
Total Operating Expense $ 8,169,359 §$ (2,840,030) $ 5,329,329
Loss Before Income Taxes $ (9,263,581) $ (2,840,030) $ (6,423,551)
Net Income (Loss) $ (9,151,865) $ (2,840,030 § (6,311,835)
Basic & Diluted Loss per Share S 042) $ 0.13) $ (0.29)
Consolidated Statement of Other Comprehensive Income
Other Comprehensive Income $ (9,299,018) $ (2,840,030) $ (6,458,988)
Consolidated Statement of Changes to Shareholders’ Equity
Accumulated Deficit $ (37,595,390) $ (2,840,030) $ (34,755,360)
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ENOCHIAN BIOSCIENCES INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 3 — ACQUISITION OF ENOCHIAN BIOPHARMA

On January 12, 2018, the Company entered into an a%/guisition agreement to acquire Enochian BioPharma which ultimately closed on February 16, 2018. The purpose of the acquisition was to
allow the Company to increase its footprint to include the HIV drug development market. As consideration for the acquisition, the stockholders of Enochian BioPharma received: (i) 18,081,962 shares
of Common Stock valued at their fair value of $8.00 per share (“Acquisition Shares™); (ii) the right to receive on a one to one basis on share of Common Stock for each share of Common Stock issued
in the future related to the exercise of any warrant or option outstanding at the agreement date (the “Contingent Consideration™); and (iii) approximately $297,000 in cash.

Total consideration is as follows:

Shares of Common Stock $ 144,656,000
Contingent Consideration 21,516,000
Cash Consideration 297,000
Total Consideration $ 166,469,000

The Acquisition Shares issued equal 50% of the outstanding common shares of the company, post issuance and were fair valued based on the last third-party private placement for cash which
occurred at or around the acquisition date due to a lack of trading volume in our stock. The Contingent Consideration could have resulted in a maximum future issuance of an additional 6,488,122
shares of Common Stock if 211 outstanding options and warrants are exercised. This continglgnt consideration liability is measured at fair value at inception and subsequently marked to fair value in
future periods until the underlying options and warrants are completely exercised or expire. The Company valued the liability based off an option pricing model using the probability of conversion to
determine the number of shares expected to be issued. As of June 30, 2019, there are 1,938,122 shares of Common Stock that are contingently issuable.

The significant assumptions for this valuation were as follows:

June 30, 2019 June 30, 2018 February 18, 2018
Stock Price $4.50 $8.00 $8.00
Exercise Price $1.30 -$2.00 $1.30 -$2.00 $1.30 -$2.00
Term 0.55 - 3.05 years 1.8 - 4.3 years 1.55 - 4.05 years
Risk Free Rate 2.46% - 2.57% 2.17% - 2.54% 2.43% - 2.54%

The Contingent Consideration
The transaction was accounted for in accordance with the provisions of ASC 805-10 - Business Combinations. As a result of the transaction, both the pre-acquisition shareholders of the
Company and the seller of Enochian own 50% of the Company, respectively. The Company determined it was the accounting acquirer in the transaction as it retained the majority of the management

and board positions. The Company retained a valuation specialist to advise mana§ement in the determination of the fair value of the various assets acquired and liabilities assumed. All fair value
measurements of acquired assets are non-recurring in nature and classified as level 3 on the fair value hierarchy.

The following are the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed as of the closing date of February 16, 2018:

Cash and cash equivalents $

2,000
Other current assets 3,000
IPR&D intangible asset 154,824,000
Other intangible assets 11,640,000
Total Consideration $ 166,469,000
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ENOCHIAN BIOSCIENCES INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 3 — ACQUISITION OF ENOCHIAN BIOPHARMA (Continued)

. The In-Process Research & Development (“IPR&D”) intan%ible asset was fair valued using a multi period excess earnings model and represents a perpetual, fully paid-up, royalty-free,
sublicensable, and sole and exclusive worldwide license to research, develop, use, sell, have sold, make, have made, offer for sale, import and otherwise commercialize certain intellectual property in
cellular therapies for the prevention, treatment, amelioration of and/or therapy exclusively for HIV in humans, and research and development exclusively relating to HIV in humans.

. Under ASC 805-10, chuisition_—related costs (i.e., advisox, legal, valuation and other professional fees) are not included as acomponent of consideration transferred but are accounted for as
operating expenses in the periods in which the costs are incurred. Acquisition-related costs were $2,091,401 during the year ended June 30, 2018.




ENOCHIAN BIOSCIENCES INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 4 - PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Property and equipment consisted of the following at June 30, 2019 and 2018:

Useful Life June 30, 2019 June 30, 2018
Lab equipment and Instruments 4-7 $ 479,145 $ 202,197
Leasehold improvements 10 $ 194,788 $ —
Furniture fixtures and equipment 4-7 $ 72,736 $ 58,977
Total $ 746,669 $ 261,174
Less accumulated depreciation $ (59,152) $ (233,772)
Net Property and Equipment $ 687,517 $ 27,402

Depreciation expense amounted to $56,555 and $2,597 for the years ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively.
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ENOCHIAN BIOSCIENCES INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 5 — INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND GOODWILL

At June 30, 2019 and 2018, definite-life intangible assets, net of accumulated amortization, consisted of patents on the Company’s products and processes of $93,299 and $111,489,
gelsge‘:‘%t‘ltvely The platents are recorded at cost and amortized over twenty years from the date of application. Amortization expense for the year ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, was $15,154 and
,484, respectively.

At June 30, 2019 and 2018, indefinite life intangibles assets consisted of a licenses agreements classified as In-Process Research and Development (“IPR&D”) intangible assets, which are not
amortizable until the intangible asset provides economic benefit, and goodwill.

At June 30, 2019 and 2018, definite-life intangible assets consisted of the following:

Effect of Currency
Useful Life June 30,2018 Period Change Translation June 30, 2019
Definite Life Intangible Assets (As Revised)
Patents 20 Years $ 310,968  $ — $ 8,597) $ 302,371
Less Accumulated
Amortization $ (199,479) $ (15,154) § 5561 § (209,072)
Net Definite-Life Intangible
Assets $ 111,489 $ (15,154) $ (3,036) $ 93,299
Indefinite Life Intangible
Assets
License Agreement $ 154,824,000 $ 154,824,000
Goodwill $ 11,640,000 $ 11,640,000
Total $ 166,464,000 $ 166,464,000
Total Indefinite Life
Intangible Assets $ 166,464,000 $ 166,464,000

Expected future amortization expense for the years ended are as follows:

Year ending

June 30,
2020 $ 15,154
2021 $ 15,154
2022 $ 15,154
2023 $ 15,154
Thereafter $ 32,683
$ 93,299

During February 2018, the Company acquired a License Agreement (as licensee) to the HIV therapy being developed as ENOB-HVO01 which consists of a perpetual, fully paid-up, royalty-
free, sublicensable, and sole and exclusive ‘worldwide license to research, develop, use, sell, have sold, make, have made, offer for sale, import and otherwise commercialize certain intellectual
Eroperty in cellular therapies for the prevention, treatment, amelioration of and/or therapy exclusively for HIV in humans, and research and development exclusively relating to HIV in humans.

ecause the License Agreement is considered, an IPR&D intangible asset is classified as an indefinite life asset that is tested annually for impairment.

Impairment — Followinﬁqth$ fourth quarter of each year, management performs its annual test of impairment of intan%iblg ssets by performing a quantitative assessment and determines if it is
more than likely than not that, the fair value of the asset 1s éreater than or equal to the carrying value of the asset. The resulfs of the quartitative assessment supported Management’s conclusion that
an impairment adjustment was not required as of June 30, 2019.
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ENOCHIAN BIOSCIENCES INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 6 — LEASES

Operating Leases —

On November 13, 2017, the Registrant entered into a Lease Agreement for a term of five years and two months from November 1, 2017 with Plaza Medical Office Building, LLC, pursuant to
which the Registrant agreed to lease a?proximately 2,325 rentable square feet (the “Plaza Lease”). The base rent for the Plaza Lease increases by 3% each year, and ranges from approximatel%/ $8,719
per month, for the first year to $10,107 per month for the two months of the sixth year. The equalized monthly lease payment for the term of the'lease is $8,124. The Registrant is entitled to $70,800 in
tenant improvement allowance in the form of free rent applied over 10 months in equal installments beginning in January 2018.

On June 19, 2018, the Registrant entered into a Lease Agreement for a term of ten years from September 1, 2018 with Century City Medical Plaza Land Co., Inc., pursuant to which the
Company agreed to lease ap1pr0x1mately 2,453 rentable square feet (the “Century Lease”). On Februarfy 20, 2019, the Registrant entered into an Addendum to the original Lease Agreement with an
) e

effective dafe of December 1, 2019, where it expanded the lease area to include another 1,101 square feet fora total rentable 3,554 square feet. The base rent increases by 3% each year, and ranges
from $17,770 per month for the remainder of the first year to $23,186 per month for the tenth year. The Company is entitled to $148,168 in contributions toward tenant improvements.

For the years ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, the lease expenses charged to general and administrative expenses amounted to $395,528 and $15,685, respectively.

Below are the lease commitments for the next 5 years:

Year Ending June 30th Lease Expense
2020 $ 328,490
2021 $ 338,345
2022 $ 348,495
2023 $ 298,305
2024 $ 246,004
Thereafter $ 1,106,435
Total $ 2,666,074
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ENOCHIAN BIOSCIENCES INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 7 — INCOME TAXES

The Company accounts for income taxes in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 740, Accountinf for Income Taxes; which requires the Company to provide a net deferred tax asset or liability
equal to the expected future tax benefit or expense of temporary reporting differences between book and tax accounting and any available operating loss or tax credit carryforwards. The amount of and

ultimate realization of the benefits from the deferred tax assets for income tax purposes is dependent, in part, upon the tax laws in effect, the Company’s future earnings, and other future events, the
effects of which cannot be determined.

As of June 30, 2019 and 2018, the Company had net operating loss carr%/forwards of approximately $20,905,755 and $5,110,796, respectively, giving rise to deferred tax assets of $4,454,946
and $1,138,005, respectively for United States tax purposes which expire in 2036.

The Company files Danish and U.S. income tax returns and they are generally no longer subject to tax examinations for years prior to 2008 for their Danish tax returns and 2012 for their U.S.
tax returns.

The temporary differences, tax credits and carry forwards gave rise to the following deferred tax asset (liabilities) at June 30, 2019 and 2018:

June 30
2019 2018
(As Revised)

Excess of Tax over book depreciation Fixed assets $ (13,985) $ (19,065)
Excess of Tax over book depreciation Patents 3,017 3,879
Stock/options Compensation 454,643 —
Depreciation and amortization 11,876 —
Net Operating Loss Carryforward 4,454,946 1,138,005
Valuation Allowance (4,910,497) (1,122,819)

Total Deferred Tax Asset (Liabilities) $ — $ —

In accordance with prevailing accounting guidance, the Company is required to recognize and disclose any income tax uncertainties. The guidance provides a two-step approach to recognize
and disclose any income tax uncertainties. The guidance provides a two-step approach to recognizing and measuring tax benefits and liabilities when realization of the tax position is uncertain. The
first step is to determine whether the tax position meets tEe more-likely-than-not condition for reco%nition, and the second step is to determine the amount to be recognizedp based on the cumulative

robability that exceeds 50%. The amount of and ultimate realization of the benefits from the deferred tax assets for income tax purposes is dependent, in part, upon the tax laws in effect, the
ompany’s future earnings, and other future events, the effects of which can be difficult to determine and can only be estimated. Management estimates that it is more likely than not that the
CompanX will not generate adequate net profits to use the deferred tax assets; and consequently, a valuation allowance was recorded for all deferred tax assets.
June 30°3 6?%0n0111at10n of income tax expense at the federal statutory rate to income tax expense at the Company’s effective rate is as follows for the year ended June 30, 2019 and the year ended
une 30, :

June 30
2019 2018
(As Revised)

Computed tax at expected statutory rate $ (3,783,461) $ (1,131,612)
Non-US income taxed at different rates (10,863)
Non-deductible expenses / other items 218,055
Valuation allowance 3,783,461 812,704

Income Tax Expense $ — $ (111,716)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 7 — INCOME TAXES (Continued)

The components of income tax expense (benefit) from continuing operations for the year ended June 30, 2019 and the year ended June 30, 2018 consisted of the following:

June 30,
2019 2018
Current Tax Expense (As Revised)
Danish Income Tax (Benefit) $ $ (111,716)
Total Current Tax Expense (Benefit) $ (111,716)
Deferred Income Tax Expense (Benefit)
Excess of Tax over Book Depreciation Fixed Assets $ (13,985) $ (19,065)
Excess of Tax over Book Depreciation Patents 3,017 3879
Stock/options Compensation 454,643 —
Depreciation and amortization 11,876 —
Net Operating Loss Carryforwards 4,454,946 1,138,005
Change in the Valuation allowance (4,910,497) (1,122,819)
Total Deferred Tax Expense $ — $

Deferred income tax expense/(benefit) results primarily from the reversal of temporary timing differences between tax and financial statement income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 8 — STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Common Stock — The Registrant has 100,000,000 authorized shares of Common Stock, par value $0.0001. As of June 30, 2019 and 2018 there were 45,273,924 and 36,163,924 shares of
Common Stock issued and outstanding, respectively.

. Voting- Holders of Common Stock are entitled to one vote per share held of record on each matter submitted to a vote of stockholders, including the election of directors, and do not have any
right to cumulate votes in the election of directors.

Dividends- Holders of Common Stock are entitled to receive ratably such dividends as our Board from time to time may declare out of funds legally available.

. Liquidation Rights- In the event of any liquidation, dissolution or winding-up of affairs of the Company, after payment of all of our debts and liabilities, the holders of Common Stock will be
entitled to share ratably in the distribution of any of our remaining assets.

Common Stock Issuances -

On July 12, 2017, the Registrant completed a private placement of 1,231,561 units, consisting of 1,231,561 shares of Common Stock and warrants to purchase 2,463,122 shares of Common
Stock for $1,601,029 or $1.30 per Unit.

On August 30, 2017, the Registrant issued 62,687 shares of Common Stock to the CEO and recorded non-cash compensation expense of $112,837 with a cost basis of $1.80 per share.
On November 29, 2017, the Registrant issued 183,356 shares of Common Stock at a conversion price of $1.60 per share for the conversion of convertible promissory notes totaling $293,370.

. On February 13, 2018, the Registrant issued 18,750 shares of Common Stock with a cost basis of $5.60 per share or $105,000 and a warrant to purchase 25,000 shares of Common stock, at a
strike price of $8.00 per share, with a 3 year term for non-cash consulting compensation.

On February 16, 2018, the Registrant issued 75,188 shares of Common Stock at a conversion price of $1.60 per share for the conversion of convertible promissory notes totaling $120,300.

On February 16, 2018, the Registrant issued 2,400,000 shares of Common Stock pursuant to the exercise of warrants at strike prices ranging from $1.60 per share to $2.00 per share for total
proceeds of $3,295,000.

$13 417(())20February 16, 2018, the Registrant issued 1,677,130 shares of Common Stock at a price of $8.00 per share pursuant to a private placement for total proceeds to the Registrant of

On February 16, 2018, the Registrant issued 18,081,962 shares of Common Stock valued at the price of $8.00 per share pursuant to the Acquisition Agreement.
On August 28, 2018, the Registrant issued 10,000 shares of Common Stock valued at the price of $4.00 per share or $40,000 for non-cash consulting compensation.

On December 27, 2018, the Registrant issued 1,307,693 shares of Common Stock valued at the price of $1.30 per share pursuant to the exercise of warrants at strike price $1.30 per share for
total proceeds of $1,700,001.

On December 27, 2018, the Registrant issued 1,307,693 shares of Common Stock valued at the price of $7.20 per share pursuant to the Acquisition Agreement. This was a non-cash
transaction that impacted shareholders’ equity in the amount of $9,415,390.

$4.019 9%3 June 27, 2019, the Registrant issued 3,092,307 shares of Common Stock valued at the price of $1.30 pursuant to the exercise of warrants at strike price $1.30 per share for total proceeds of
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NOTE 8 — STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY (continued)

$300 00811 June 27, 2019, the Registrant issued 150,000 shares of Common Stock valued at the price of $2.00 pursuant to the exercise of vested options at a strike price per share for total proceeds of

On June 27, 2019, the Registrant issued 3,242,307 shares of Common Stock valued at the price of $4.59 pursuant to the Acquisition Agreement. This was a non-cash transaction that impacted
shareholders’ equity in the amount of $14,882,189.

Acquisition of Enochian Biopharma / Contingently issuable shares - On February 16, 2018, the Acquisition was completed when the Acquisition Sub merged with and into Enochian
Biopharma, with Enochian Biopharma as the surviving corporation. As consideration for the Acquisition, the stockholders of Enochian Biopharma received (i) 18,081,962 shares of Common Stock,
and (ii) the right to receive Contingent Shares of Common Stock pro rata upon the exercise or conversion of warrants which were outstanding at closing. As of June 30, 2019, 1,938,122 Contingent
Shares are potentially issuable in connection with the Acquisition of Enochian Biopharma.

Recognition of Options

The Company recognizes compensation costs for stock option awards to employees based on their grant-date fair value. The value of each stock option is estimated on the date of grant using
the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. The weighted-average assumptions used to estimate the fair values of the stock options granted using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model are as follows:

Enochian Biosciences Inc.

Expected term (in years) 3-10
Volatility 91.86 - 98.15%
Risk free interest rate 2.12-3.23%
Dividend yield 0%

The Company recognized stock-based compensation expense related to the options of $2,124,967 and $257,937 for the years ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively. At June 30, 2019,
the Company had approximately $659,868 of unrecognized compensation cost related to non-vested options.
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NOTE 8 — STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY (continued)

Stock Grants -On September 15, 2016, the Board granted the right to acquire 300,000 shares of Common Stock at a strike price of $2.00 per share in what the Board originally described as
“options” (the “Grants”) to each of Eric Leire, APE Invest A/S for Aldo Petersen and N.E. Nielson in consideration of their service to the Registrant, These Grants vested immediately and expire
December 31, 2019. In October of 2017, the Registrant issued warrants to APE Invest A/S and N.E. Nielsen, and in January 2018, the Registrant issued a warrant to Eric Leire (each a “Grant
Warrant” collectively the “Grant Warrants”) to evidence the Grants for an aggresgate 0f 900,000 Grant Warrants. Durinf the year ended June 30, 2019, there were 150,000 Grant Warrants exercised at
the strike price of $2.00 per share or $300,000. There is a remaining balance of 500,000 Grant Warrants as of June 30, 2019.

Grant Warrants/ Plan Options

On February 6, 2014, the Board adopted the Registrant’s 2014 Equity Incentive Plan (the “Plan”), and the Registrant has reserved 1,206,000 shares of Common Stock for issuance in
accordance with the terms of the Plan. To date the Registrant has granted options under the Plan (“Plan Options”) to purchase 501,761 shares of Common Stock. During the year ended June 30, 2019,
She Rgglsztgjllngt _1S§$}19e(()121 3.5f000 at $6.15 per share or $92,250 of Restricted Stock Units (“RSUs”) in accordance with the terms of the Plan. The remaining compensation expense related to the RSUs at

une 30, is $90,231.

A summary of the status of the Plan Options and Grant Warrants outstanding at June 30, 2019 is presented below:

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable
‘Weighted Weighted
Average Weighted Average Weighted
Remaining Average Remaining Average
Exercise Number Contractual Exercise Number Contractual Exercise
Prices Qutstanding Life (years) Price Exercisable Life (years) Price
$ 2.00 500,000 050 $ 2.00 500,000 050 $ 2.00
$ 3.95 5,063 9.09 $ 3.95 — — $ —
$ 5.72 13,113 934 $ 5.72 — — $ —
$ 5.74 15,679 9.00 $ 5.74 15,679 923 § 5.74
$ 5.80 7,759 928 § 5.80 — — $ —
$ 6.15 60,000 994 § 6.15 — — $ —
$ 6.25 18,346 9.69 § 6.25 — — $ =
$ 6.50 300,000 940 $ 6.50 300,000 940 $ 6.50
$ 6.95 4,317 978 8§ 6.95 — — $ —
$ 7.10 8,248 9.67 $ 7.10 — — $ —
$ 8.00 69,235 882 § 8.00 13,540 8.68 $ 8.00
Total $ — 1,001,760 496 $ 4.30 829,220 402 $ 3.80
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NOTE 8 — STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY (continued)

A summary of the status of the Plan Options and the Grant Warrants for the year ended June 30, 2019, and changes during the period are presented below:

Weighted
Weighted Average Average Weighted Average
Shares Exercise Price Remaining Life Intrinsic Value
Outstanding at beginning of period 690,620 $ 2.00 2.00 $2,275,000
Granted 461,140 $ 6.46 10.00 -
Exercised (150,000) $ 2.00 0.50 -
Forfeited — $ — — -
Expired = $ — — o
Outstanding at end of period 1,001,760  § 4.30 4.96 $1,252,785
Vested and expected to vest 829,220 § 3.80 4.02 $1,250,000
Exercisable end of period 829,220 3.80 4.02 $1,250,000

. At June 30, 2019, all Grant Warrants are exercisable and 829,220 Plan options are exercisable. The total intrinsic value of options at June 30, 2019 was $1,252,785. Intrinsic value is measured
using the fair market value at the date of exercise (for shares exercised) or at June 30, 2019 (for outstanding options), less the applicable exercise price.

Common Stock Purchase Warrants

A summary of the status of shares of Common Stock which can be purchased underlying the warrants outstanding at June 30, 2019 is presented below:

Weighted Average ‘Weighted Average Weighted Average
Shares Exercise Price R ining Life Intrinsic Value

Outstanding at beginning of period 5,838,122 § 1.96 3.89

Granted — — —

Exercised (4,400,000) 1.30 —

Cancelled/Expired — — —

Outstanding at end of period 1,438,122 $ 1.42 3.00 $4,521,990
Exercisable end of period 1,438,122 §$ 1.42 3.00 $4,521,990
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NOTE 8 — STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY (continued)

Equivalent Shares Underlying Warrants Outstanding Equivalent Shares Exercisable
Weight Average Remaining Weight Average Exercise Weighted Average Exercise
Exercise Prices Equivalent Shares Contractual Life (years) Price Number Exercisable Price
$ 1.30 1,413,122 302§ 1.30 1,413,122  §$ 1.30
$ 8.00 25,000 1.63 § 8.00 25,000 $ 8.00
Total 1,438,122 3.00 § 1.42 1,438,122  § 1.42

At June 30, 2019, the Company had 1,938,122 vested warrants. The exercise price of certain warrants and the number of shares underlying the warrants are subject to adjustment for stock dividends,
subdivisions of the outstanding shares of Common Stock and combinations of the outstanding shares of Common Stock. For so long as the warrants remain outstanding, we are required to keep
reserved from our authorized and unissued shares of Common Stock a sufficient number of shares to provide for the issuance of the shares underlying the warrants.

Restricted Stock Units (RSUs)
A summary of the status of Restricted Stock Units outstanding at June 30, 2019 is presented below:

Weighted Average  Weighted Average  Weighted Average

Shares Exercise Price Remaining Life Intrinsic Value
Outstanding at beginning of period $ — $ — $ = 9 —
Granted 15,000 6.15 294 § —
Exercised — — —
Cancelled/Expired — — —
Outstanding at end of period 15,000 $ 6.15 294 § —
Exercisable end of period — $ — — $ —
Restricted Stock Units Outstanding Restricted Stock Units Exercisable
Weight Average
Remaining Contractual ‘Weight Average Exercise Weighted Average
Grant Price Stock Units Life (years) Price Number Exercisable Exercise Price
$ 6.15 15,000 294 § 6.15 — $ o
Total 15,000 294 § 6.15 — $ —

Acquisition of DanDrit Denmark - At June 30, 2019 and 2018, the Registrant maintained a reserve of 92,237 and 129,596 Escrow Shares, respectively, all of which are reflected as issued
and outstanding in the accompanying financial statements. The Escrow Shares are reserved to acquire the 92,237 and 129,596 shares held b{)npn-consentm shareholders of DanDrit Denmark at June
30, 2019 and 2018, respectively, in accordance with Section 70 of the Danish Companies Act and the Articles of Association of DanDrit Denmark. During the year ended June 30, 2019, the
Registrant issued 37,359 shares of Common Stock to such non-consenting shareholders of DanDrit Denmark.
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NOTE 9 — COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Consulting Agreements — On February 16, 2018, the Registrant entered into a consulting agreement with Weird Science under which Weird Science was to provide ongoing medical services
related to the development of the Company’s products for the treatment of HIV and cancer. In consideration for such consulting services, the Company was to pay up to $30,000 per month for the
consulting services. On July 9, 2018, the consulting agreement was terminated (See Note 10).

On February 16, 2018, the Registrant entered into a consulting agreement with Carl Sandler, a board member and shareholder of the Registrant (through his holdinglg in Weird Science) for
services related to clinical development and new business opportunities. In consideration for services actually rendered, the Registrant paid $10,000 per month for 6 months. For the year ended June
30, 2018, Carl Sandler was paid $45,000 for consulting services, For the gear ended June 30, 2019, the Company paid the remaining $15,000 of the agreement. The agreement with Mr. Sandler
terminated pursuant to its terms on August 16, 2018.This amount is included in “Consulting Expenses” in our Condensed Consolidated Statement of Operations (See Note 10).

On July 9, 2018, the Company entered into a consulting agreement with G-Tech Bio, LLC, a California limited liability company (“G-Tech”) to assist the Company with the development of
the gene therapg and autologous and allogenic cell therapy modalities for the prevention, treatment, amelioration of HIV in humans, and with the development of a genefically enhanced Allogenic
Dendritic Cell for use as a wide spectrum flatform for various diseases (including but not limited to cancers and infectious diseases). G-Tech is entitled to consulting fees for 20 months, with a
monthly consulting fee of not greater than $130,000 per month (See Note 10).

Shares held for non-consenting shareholders — In connection with the Share Exchange certain shareholders of DanDrit Denmark had not been identified or did not consent to the exchange
of shares. In accordance with Section 70 of the Danish Companies Act and the Articles of Association of DanDrit Denmark, the Non-Consenting Shareholders that did not exchange the DanDrit
Denmark equity interests owned by such Non-Consenting Shareholders for shares of the Company, will be entitled to receive up to 185,053 shares of Common Stock of the Company that each such
Non-Consenting Shareholder would have been entitled to receive if such shareholder had consented to the Share Exchange. During the year ended June 30, 2019, the Registrant issued 37,359 shares
of Common Stock to such non-consenting shareholders of DanDrit Denmark. The 92,237 remaining shares have been reflected as issued and outstanding in the accompanying financial statements.

Employment and Service Agreements — The Company has a director’s agreement with Mark Dybul, the Executive Vice-Chair where he fulfills the duties as prescribed by the Company’s
bylaws and receives annual compensation in the amount of $430,000, plus 300,000 options that vested immediately. The Company has an employment agreement with Luisa Puche, the Chief
Financial officer with a base annual compensation of $200,000 plus 60,000 options and 15,000 options granted effective her employment date. The Company had an employment agreement with Eric
Leire, the former Chief Executive Officer with a base compensation of $313,775. The Company also had a services agreement with Crossfield, Inc. an entity controlled by Robert Wolfe, the former
acting Chief Financial officer with a base compensation of $240,000. As of January 7, and 9, 2019, respectively, Eric Leire and Robert Wolfe are no longer with the Company. The Company
maintains employment agreements with other staff in the ordinary course of business.

Contingencies - The Company is from time to time involved in routine legal and administrative proceedings and claims of various types. While any proceedings or claim contains an element
of uncertainty, management does not expect a material impact on our results of operations or financial position.
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NOTE 10 — RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

On December 29, 2017, the Registrant entered into a consulting agreement with RS Group ApS, a company owned and controlled b¥ 2 directors, for consulting services from October 1, 2017
%kgrg;l%}é%\/[arch 31, 2018. In consideration for the consulting services in connection with the negotiation and structuring of the acquisition ot Enochian Biopharma, the Registrant paid RS Group ApS

On February 16, 2018 the Refistrant entered into a consulting aﬁreemem with Carl Sandler, who subsequently became a board member and shareholder of the Registrant (through his holdings
in Weird Science) for services related to clinical development and new business opportunities. In consideration for services actually rendered, the Registrant paid $10,000 per month for 6 months. For
the year ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, Carl Sandler was paid $15,000 and $45,000 for consulting services, respectively. The agreement with Mr. Sandler terminated pursuant to its terms on August
16, 2018. This amount is included in “Consulting Expenses” in our Consolidated Statement of Operations.

On February 16, 2018, the Registrant entered into a consulting agreement with Weird Science, a significant shareholder of the Registrant, under which Weird Science was to provide ongoing
medical services related to the development of the Company’s products for the treatment of HIV and cancer. In consideration for such consulting services, the Company was to pay up to $30,000 per
month for the consulting services. On July 9, 2018, the consulting agreement was terminated (See Note 9).

On July 9, 2018, the Company entered into a consulting agreement with G-Tech Bio, LLC, a California limited liability company (“G-Tech”) to assist the Company with the development of
the gene therapy and autologous and ‘allogenic cell therapy modalities for the prevention, treatment, amelioration of HIV in humans, and with the development of a genefically enhanced Allogenic
Dendritic Cell for use as a wide spectrum platform for various diseases (including but not limited to cancers and infectious diseases). G-Tech is entitled to consulting fees for 20 months, with a
monthly consultin% fee of not greater than $130,000 per month. G-Tech is controlled by certain members of Weird Science. For the year ended June 30, 2019, the Company paid G-Tech $1,500,000.
This amount is included in “Research & Development expenses in our Consolidated Statements of Operations (See Note 9).

NOTE 11 — SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

On July 3, 2019, the Registrant issued 500,000 shares of Common Stock valued at the price of $2.00 pursuant to the exercise of vested options at a strike price of $2.00 per share for total
proceeds of $1,000,000.

. On July 3, 2019, the Registrant issued 500,000 shares of Common Stock valued at the price of $4.42 per share pursuant to the Acquisition Agreement. This was a non-cash transaction that
impacted shareholders’ equity in the amount of $2,210,000.

In accordance with ASC 855-10, Company management reviewed all material events through the date of this report. The following material subsequent events occurred.
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure
Not applicable.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

. Our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer (the “Certifying Officers™) are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and Erocedures for the Company. The
Certifying Officer has designed such disclosure controls and procedures to ensure that material information is made known to him, particularly during the period in which this Report was prepared.

The Certifying Officers are responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting for the Company used the “Internal Control over Financial Reporting
Integrated Framework™ issued by Committee of Sponsoring Organizations ("COSO”) to conduct an extensive review of the Company’s “disclosure controls and procedures” %15 defined in the

Exchange Act, Rules 13a-15(e) and 15-d-15(e)) as of the end of each of the periods covered by this Annual Report (the “Evaluation Date’(?. Based upon that evaluation, the Certifying Officer
1

concluded that, as of June 30, 2019, our disclosure controls and procedures were not effective in ensuring that the information we were required to disclose in reports that we file or submit under the
SEC Act of 1934, as amended, is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in SEC rules and forms.

Management Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting for the Company. Management used the “Internal Control over Financial Reporting
Integrated Framework” issued by COSO to conduct an extensive review of the Company’s internal controls over financial reporting to make that evaluation. As of June 30, 2019, the Management
concluded that internal controls over financial reporting as of June 30, 2019 were not effective, based on COSO’s framework. The deficiencies are attributed to the fact that the Company does not
have adequate resources to address complex accounting issues, as well as an inadequate number of persons to whom it can segregate accounting tasks within the Company so as to ensure the
segregation of duties between those persons who approve and issue payment from those persons who are responsible to record and reconcile such transactions within the Company’s accounting
system. These control deficiencies will be monitored, and attention will be given to the matter as we continue to accelerate through our current growth stage.

. This Annual Report does not include attestation reports of the Company’s registered public accounting firms regarding internal controls over financial reporting. Management’s report was not
subject to attestation by the Company’s registered public accounting firm pursuant to rules of the SEC that permit the Company to provide only management’s report in this Annual Report.
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Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting
During the year ended June 30, 2019, we instituted the changes in our management and board related to our internal control over financial reporting:
e On January 7, 2019, the Board appointed Luisa Puche as the Chief Financial Officer;

e On October 30, 2018, the Board increased its size from six to seven directors. The additional director is considered independent under the listing standards of the Nasdaq Capital
Market.

Except as set forth above, there were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the period covered by this report that have materially affected, or are
reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

Item 9B. Other Information

Not Applicable.
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PART III

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance
The information required by this Item 10 will be included under the captions “Directors and Executive Officers”, “Information as to Nominees and Other Directors”, “Information Regarding

Meetings and Committees of the Board”, “Compliance with Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act”, “Code of Ethics”, “Corporate Governance” and as otherwise set forth in the Company’s 2019 Proxy
Statement and is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 11. Executive Compensation

This information will be contained in our definitive proxy statement for our 2019 Annual Meeting of Shareholders, to be filed with the SEC not later than 120 days after the end of our fiscal
year covered by this report, and incorporated herein by reference or, alternatively, by amendment to this Form 10-K under cover of Form 10-K/A no later than the end of such 120-day period.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters

This information will be contained in our definitive proxy statement for our 2019 Annual Meeting of Shareholders, to be filed with the SEC not later than 120 days after the end of our fiscal
year covered by this report, and incorporated herein by reference or, alternatively, by amendment to this Form 10-K under cover of Form 10-K/A no later than the end of such 120-day period.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions and Director Independence

This information will be contained in our definitive proxy statement for our 2019 Annual Meeting of Shareholders, to be filed with the SEC not later than 120 days after the end of our fiscal
year covered by this report, and incorporated herein by reference or, alternatively, by amendment to this Form 10-K under cover of Form 10-K/A no later than the end of such 120-day period.

Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services

This information will be contained in our definitive proxy statement for our 2019 Annual Meeting of Shareholders, to be filed with the SEC not later than 120 days after the end of our fiscal
year covered by this report, and incorporated herein by reference or, alternatively, by amendment to this Form 10-K under cover of Form 10-K/A no later than the end of such 120-day period.
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PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules

Exhibit

No. Description

2.1 Agreement and Plan of Merger by and among the Company, DanDrit Acquisition Sub. Inc., Enochian Biopharma and Weird Science dated January 12, 2018 (1)
3.1 Certificate of Incorporation (2)

32 Bylaws (3)

4.1 Description of Securities (4)

10.1 2014 Equity Incentive Plan (5)

10.2 Form of Subscription Agreement (6)
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https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0001213900-18-000600.html?hash=857848865d52741eea87da19fc26d7f4138e4fdbda478e4a421fc194cd850456&dest=F8K011218EX2-1_DANDRITBIO_HTM
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0001731122-18-000013.html?hash=d6e05c2651a1a1e0a10a7eb7ffab725ee1248c4b7d09bed64f7ebf0d1e905d55&dest=E1079_EX3-1_HTM
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0001731122-19-000259.html?hash=d7c069330998ed63f220593a3426c5a5a1a604f705588a1151e4ca19edf26ba5&dest=E1349_EX3-1_HTM
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0001731122-18-000178.html?hash=41e2de5c7c58b751c346fed2f8005a81a3814dcb2840723b380c115abc053242&dest=E1209_8A12B_HTM
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0001213900-14-000933.html?hash=6711aa02ee61d727a93fd6726cf91e48f4512505f1927c175b4c5891661a59d9&dest=EX10-13_HTM
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0001213900-17-004429.html?hash=40529d75c75a532cc2a9fe442b33d8795fb8be8ab37ea5e6747d16b0724e20ce&dest=F8K050117EX10I_DANDRITBIO_HTM

Exhibit
No.

Description

10.3
10.4
10.5
10.6
10.7
10.8
10.9
10.10*
10.11%*
10.12%*
14.1
31.1%
3112
32.1%*
32.2%*
101.INS
101.SCH
101.CAL
101.DEF
101.LAB

101.PRE

Form of Warrant (6)
Lease Agreement by and between the Company and Plaza Medical Office Building, LI.C dated November 13, 2017 (7)
Form of License Agreement (1
Form of Investor Rights Agreement (1)
Form of Standstill and Lock-Up Agreement (1)
Form of Grant Warrant (8)
General Office Lease by and between the Registrant and Century City Medical Plaza Land Co., Inc. dated June 19, 2018 (9
Consulting Agreement by and between the Company and G-Tech Bio, LLC July 9, 2018
Offer Letter from the Company to Luisa Puche, dated December 28, 2018.
Amended and Restated Director Agreement by and between the Company and Mark Dybul, as amended, dated May 1, 2019. *
Code of Ethics (10)
ertification of Principal Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) or Rule 15d-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934

rtification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) or Rule 15d-14(a) of the urities Exchange Act of 1934

XBRL Instance Document*

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema*

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase*
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase*
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase*

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase*
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https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0001213900-17-004429.html?hash=40529d75c75a532cc2a9fe442b33d8795fb8be8ab37ea5e6747d16b0724e20ce&dest=F8K050117EX10II_DANDRITBIO_HTM
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0001213900-17-012297.html?hash=c51ea4e7c007e4a7d1b913717f8a41163ef66e6491cbf2a69257b4d4df825b81&dest=F8K111317EX10-1_DANDRITBIO_HTM
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0001213900-18-000600.html?hash=857848865d52741eea87da19fc26d7f4138e4fdbda478e4a421fc194cd850456&dest=F8K011218EX10-1_DANDRITBIO_HTM
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0001213900-18-000600.html?hash=857848865d52741eea87da19fc26d7f4138e4fdbda478e4a421fc194cd850456&dest=F8K011218EX10-2_DANDRITBIO_HTM
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0001213900-18-000600.html?hash=857848865d52741eea87da19fc26d7f4138e4fdbda478e4a421fc194cd850456&dest=F8K011218EX10-3_DANDRITBIO_HTM
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0001213900-18-001473.html?hash=ae474d98e1a09513b3acb89dc6f6000fb0addb41deb910d16ff19f3b5654f2e6&dest=F10Q1217EX4-1_DANDRIT_HTM
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0001731122-18-000021.html?hash=8d4ac587f55f405bded79cd3b596bbf25c76ac2781c217bdfc7ee2387cef8508&dest=E1105_10-1_HTM
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0001213900-12-003853.html?hash=acfeb4f9e985a1b6610ba6413a9df85a818318a1741e048fb2a7122b8556da39&dest=F10K2012EX14I_PUTNAM_HTM

Agreement with management.

Filed herewith.

Furnished herewith.

Filed as an exhibit to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on January 17, 2018 and incorporated herein by reference.
Filed as an exhibit to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the SEC on May 15, 2018 and incorporated herein by reference.
Filed as an exhibit to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the SEC on May 16, 2019 and incorporated herein by reference.
The description of securities set forth in Item 1 of the Company’s Form 8-A, as filed with the SEC on December 6, 2018, is hereby incorporated herein by reference.
Filed as an exhibit to the Company’s registration statement on Form S-1 filed with the SEC on February 14, 2014.

Filed as an exhibit to the Company’s Form 8-K filed with the SEC on May 1, 2017 and incorporated herein by reference.

Filed as an exhibit to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on November 17, 2017 and incorporated herein by reference.
Filed as an exhibit to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the SEC on February 9, 2018 and incorporated herein by reference.
Filed as an exhibit to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on June 25, 2018 and incorporated herein by reference

Filed as an exhibit to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K/A filed with the SEC on October 29, 2018 and incorporated herein by reference.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto
duly authorized.

Date: September 27, 2019 ENOCHIAN BIOSCIENCES, INC.

By: /s/ Mark Dybul
Mark Dybul
Executive Vice Chair
(Principal Executive Officer)

By:/s/ Luisa Puche
Luisa Puche
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the
dates indicated.

Signature Title Date
/s/ Dr. Mark Dybul Executive Vice Chair September 27, 2019
Dr. Mark Dybul (Principal Executive Officer)
/s/ Luisa Puche Chief Financial Officer September 27, 2019
Luisa Puche (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)
/s/ René Sindlev Director and Chairman of the Board September 27, 2019
René Sindlev
/s/ Henrik Grenfeldt-Serensen Director September 27, 2019
Henrik Grenfeldt-Serensen
/s/ Carl Sandler Director September 27, 2019
Carl Sandler
/s/ Luc Debruyne Director September 27, 2019
Luc Debruyne
/s/ Evelyn D’An Director September 27, 2019

Ms. Evelyn D’An

/s/ Mr. James Sapirstein Director September 27, 2019
Mr. James Sapirstein
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Exhibit 10.10

CONSULTING AGREEMENT

THIS CONSULTING AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”) is made and entered into effective as of July 9, 2018 (the “Effective Date”), by and among Enochian Biosciences, Inc. (the “Company™), its wholly owned
subsidiary, Enochian Biopharma, Inc. (“Enochian”) and G Tech Bio LLC, a California limited liability company (the “Consultant™).

WHEREAS, on the Effective Date, the parties desire to enter into this Agreement pursuant to which the Consultant will provide the Consulting Services (as defined herein).

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual promises, covenants and promises contained herein, and intending to be legally bound hereby, the Company and the Consultant do hereby agree and covenant as
follows:

1. Consulting Services. The Consultant shall provide the Company and Enochian with the services described on Schedule A attached hereto (the “Consulting Services™).

2. Payment: Reimbursements.

(a) Consultant shall be compensated according to the “Schedule of Compensation” set forth on Schedule B attached hereto.

(b) All normal and customary business expenses incurred by the Consultant under this Agreement shall be paid by the Consultant, and reimbursed by the Company or paid by the Company upon the

request of the Consultant; provided, however, that the Consultant shall not receive reimbursements for business expenses in excess of $50.00 without prior written approval of the Company.

3. Independent Contractor Relationship. All services rendered hereunder by the Consultant shall be as an independent contractor. Any persons employed by the Consultant shall be deemed conclusively
as employees of the Consultant, and they shall at all times be under the Consultant’s direction and control, and they shall be bound to the same terms as Consultant under this Agreement and under that certain Non-Disclosure and
Confidentiality Agreement between the Company and Consultant dated of even date herewith (the “Non-Disclosure and Confidentiality Agreement”). The Consultant shall have the full power, authority, and discretion to select the
means, manner, and method of performing the services hereunder without detail, control or direction from the Company or its officers or directors. Neither the Consultant, nor its manager, members or any individual employed by
the Consultant shall be considered employees of the Company or Enochian for any purposes and they shall not be entitled to participate in any employee benefit plans sponsored or maintained by the Company.

4. Term: Termination; Future Services.

(a) The Consultant shall commence providing services on the Effective Date, and shall continue to do so until the date this Agreement is terminated in accordance with Section 4(b) below (the
“Termination Date”).




(b) This Agreement is terminable at any time by either party upon three (3) months prior written notice to the other party, effective as of the date set forth in such notice; provided that Company may
terminate Consultant immediately for “cause”, which shall mean any manager, member or employee of Consultant’s (i) indictment for, conviction of or pleading of guilty or nolo contendere to, a felony or any crime involving
moral turpitude; (ii) violation of any an order, sentence, plea or settlement agreement or adjudication (each, an “Order”) of a court competent jurisdiction, including such Orders existing as of the Effective Date; (iii) breach of any
obligations of confidentiality provided herein or any unauthorized disclosure of any Company trade secrets or other confidential information; (iv) performance of any material act of theft, embezzlement, fraud, malfeasance,
dishonesty or misappropriation of the Company’s property; or (v) material breach of this Agreement or any other material agreement with the Company or a material violation of the Company’s code of conduct or other written
policy; provided further that any “cause” shall only apply to an occurrence after the Effective Date. Sections 3, 7, 8, 9, 10, 11, 13 and 15 shall survive termination of this Agreement for any reason. For purposes of this Agreement,
email notification shall be deemed to be written notice.

(©) For the avoidance of doubt, any services performed by the Consultant for the Company or Enochian following the Termination Date shall not be deemed as Consulting Services governed by this
Agreement.

5. Consultant Responsible for Taxes. The Consultant agrees to accept exclusive liability for the payment of taxes due on any amounts paid under this Agreement.

6. Non-Disclosure and Confidentiality Agreement. The Consultant agrees to continue to be bound by the Non-Disclosure and Confidentiality Agreement.

7. Ownership.

(a) All information, technology, ideas, concepts, improvements, discoveries and inventions, whether patentable or not, which are conceived, made, developed, discovered, or acquired and/or reduced to

practice by Consultant, solely or in combination with others, or which are disclosed or made known to Consultant, individually or in combination with others, during the Term and which are related to the Company’s and/or
Enochian’s business, technology, intellectual property, products, processes, procedures and/ or services, and/or that Consultant has been or may be directed to undertake, investigate or experiment with by or for the Company
and/or Enochian and/or that Consultant has or may become associated with in work, investigation or experimentation by or for the Company and/or Enochian in performing the services under this Agreement or in contemplation
hereof (including all such information relating to corporate opportunities, research, development, marketing, processing, financial and sales data, pricing and trading terms, evaluations, opinions, interpretations, acquisition
prospects, the identity of clients or customers or their requirements, the identity of key contacts within the client or customers’ organizations or within the organization of acquisition prospects, or marketing and merchandising
techniques, prospective names and marks) (collectively, “Inventions™) are and shall be the sole and exclusive property of the Company and/or Enochian. Moreover, all drawings, memoranda, notes, records, files, correspondence,
manuals, models, specifications, computer programs, maps and all other writings or materials of any type embodying any of such Inventions, information, ideas, concepts, improvements, discoveries and inventions are and shall be
the sole and exclusive property of the Company and/or Enochian. For the avoidance of confusion, Consultant acknowledges that any intellectual property, including patents or provisional patents, arising from or related to the
Consulting Services shall be “Inventions™ as defined herein. Consultant also agrees to assign (or cause to be assigned) without any further payment by the Company or Enochian and hereby assigns fully to the Company and/or
Enochian all Inventions and any copyright, patent, trade secret, and mask work rights and/or other intellectual property rights relating to all Inventions.
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(b) In particular, Consultant hereby specifically assigns and transfers to the Company and/or Enochian all of Consultant’s worldwide right, title and interest in and to all such Inventions, information, ideas,
concepts, improvements, discoveries and/or inventions, and any United States or foreign applications for patents, inventor’s certificates or other industrial rights that may be filed thereon, and applications for protection and/or
registration of Inventions, such names and/or marks. During the Term and thereafter, Consultant shall assist the Company and/or Enochian and their nominees at all times in the protection of such Inventions, information, ideas,
concepts, improvements, and/or discoveries or inventions, both in the United States and all foreign countries, including the execution of all lawful oaths, applications, specifications and all assignment documents and other
instruments requested by the Company and/or Enochian or their nominees in connection with the preparation, prosecution, issuance or enforcement of any applications for United States or foreign letters patent, and any other
document application for the protection and/or registration of such Inventions, names and/or mark, including the disclosure to the Company and/or Enochian of all pertinent information and data with respect to all Inventions that
the Company and/or Enochian may deem necessary in order to apply for and obtain such rights and in order to assign and convey to the Company and/or Enochian, their successors, assigns and nominees the sole and exclusive
right, title and interest in and to all Inventions, and any copyright, patent, trade secret, and/or mask work rights or other intellectual property rights relating to all Inventions. Consultant also agrees that Consultant’s obligation to
execute or cause to be executed any such instrument or papers shall continue after the termination of this Agreement.

(c) Moreover, if during the Term, Consultant creates any original work of authorship fixed in any tangible medium of expression which is the subject matter of copyright (such as reports, videotapes, written
presentations, computer programs, drawings, maps, architectural renditions, models, manuals, brochures or the like) related to the Company’s and/or Enochian’s business, technology, intellectual property, products, processes or
services, whether such work is created solely by Consultant or jointly with others, the Company and/or Enochian shall be deemed the co-author of such work if the work is prepared by Consultant in the scope of the Consulting
Services hereunder; or, if the work is not prepared by Consultant within the scope of the Consulting Services hereunder but is specially ordered by the Company and/or Enochian as a contribution to a collective work, as a part of
any written or audiovisual work, as a translation, as a supplementary work, as a compilation or as an instructional text, then the work shall be considered to be work made for hire and the Company and/or Enochian shall be the co-
author of the work. Both during the Term and thereafter, Consultant shall assist the Company and/or Enochian and their nominees, at any time, in the protection of the Company’s and/or Enochian’s worldwide right, title and
interest in and to the work and all rights of copyright therein, including the execution of all formal assignment documents requested by the Company and/or Enochian or their nominees and the execution of all lawful oaths and
applications for registration of copyright in the United States and foreign countries; provided, however, that Consultant shall be compensated by the Company and/or Enochian at a reasonable hourly rate for assistance given after
the end of the Term.




(d) Return of Company Property. Upon the termination of this Agreement for any reason (or at any time prior thereto at the Company’s and/or Enochian’s request), Consultant shall return all property
belonging to the Company and/or Enochian or their Affiliates (including any Company and/or Enochian and/or Affiliate-provided laptops, computers, cell phones, wireless electronic mail devices or other equipment, or materials,
information, documents or property, in any form, belonging to the Company and/or Enochian and/or an Affiliate).

(e) Pre-Existing Materials. Subject to Section 8(a), Consultant agrees that if, in the course of performing the Consulting Services, Consultant incorporates into any Invention developed under this Agreement
any pre-existing invention, improvement, development, concept, discovery or other proprietary information owned by Consultant or in which Consultant has an interest, (i) Consultant will inform Company and/or Enochian, in
writing while incorporating such invention, improvement, development, concept, discovery or other proprietary information into any Invention and (ii) the Company and/or Enochian and Consultant shall enter into a nonexclusive,
perpetual, irrevocable, worldwide license to the Company and/or Enochian to make, have made, modify, use and sell such item as part of or in connection with such Invention on terms, including the payment to Consultant of
appropriate royalties, which are mutually agreeable by both parties. Consultant will not incorporate any invention, improvement, development, concept, discovery or other proprietary information owned by any third party into any
Invention without Company’s and/or Enochian’s prior written permission.

63 Attorney-in-Fact. Consultant agrees that, if the Company or Enochian is unable because of Consultant’s unavailability, mental or physical incapacity, or for any other reason, to secure Consultant’s
signature for the purpose of applying for or pursuing any application for any United States or foreign patents or mask work or copyright registrations covering the Inventions assigned to the Company or Enochian in Section 8(a),
then Consultant hereby irrevocably designates and appoints the Company and its duly authorized officers and agents as Consultant’s agent and attorney-in-fact, to act for and on Consultant’s behalf to execute and file any such
applications and to do all other lawfully permitted acts to further the prosecution and issuance of patents, copyright and mask work registrations with the same legal force and effect as if executed by Consultant.

() Personal License Back. During the term of this Agreement, Enochian will grant the Consultant the nonexclusive, royalty-free, personal right to assign to any of its members who are medical doctors the
right to use the intellectual property controlled by Enochian relating to HIV treatment in humans solely to treat patients in the personal practice of medicine by such members (the “Right to Use”).

8. Non-Solicitation. The Consultant agrees that during the term of this Agreement and for a period of one year after the Termination Date, the Consultant will not encourage or solicit any employee or
consultant of the Company or Enochian to leave the Company or Enochian for any reason.




9. Arbitration, Choice of Law. This Agreement shall be deemed to have been executed and delivered within the State of California, and the rights and obligations of the parties hereunder shall be
construed and enforced in accordance with, and governed by, the laws of the State of California without regard to principles of conflict of laws. In the event of a dispute, the parties agree to arbitrate all claims related to this
Agreement before a single arbitrator in Los Angeles County, California under the Rules of the American Arbitration Association.

10. Severability. If any provision of this Agreement or the application thereof is held invalid, the invalidity shall not affect other provisions or applications of the Agreement which can be given effect
without the invalid provisions or applications and to this end, the provisions of this Agreement are declared to be severable.

11. Advice of Counsel. In entering into this Agreement, the parties recognize that this Agreement is a legally binding contract and acknowledge and agree that each party has had the opportunity to
consult with legal counsel of its choice.

12. Entire Agreement. This Agreement, the License Agreement, and the Non-Disclosure and Confidentiality Agreement, together with all schedules and Exhibits made a part hereof and thereof constitute
and contain the entire agreement and final understanding between the parties covering the services to be provided by the Consultant. It is intended by the parties as a complete and exclusive statement of the terms of their
agreement, and they supersede all prior negotiations and agreements, proposed or otherwise, whether written or oral, between the parties concerning Consulting Services. Any representation, promise or agreement not specifically
included in this Agreement shall not be binding upon or enforceable against either party. This Agreement may be modified only with a written instrument duly executed by each of the parties. No person has any authority to make
any representation or promise on behalf of any of the parties not set forth herein and this Agreement has not been executed in reliance upon any representations or promises except those contained herein.

13. No Assignment. The Consultant shall not assign either in whole or in part any of the Consultant’s duties or responsibilities hereunder without the written consent of the Company, and any attempt of
assignment transfer or delegation without such consent shall be void.

14. Written Reports. The Consultant, when directed, shall provide written reports to Company’s Chief Executive Officer with respect to the services rendered hereunder.
15. Headings. Headings are used only for ease of reference and are not controlling.




IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Agreement effective as of the date first above written.

DANDRIT BIOTECH USA, INC.:

By/s/ Eric Leire
Name: Dr. Eric Leire
Title: Chief Executive Officer

Notice Address:

Century City Medical Plaza
2080 Century City East
Suite 906

Los Angeles, CA 90067

Email: el@enochianbio.com
With a copy to:
clayton.parker@klgates.com

ENOCHIAN BIOPHARMA, INC.:

By/s/ Eric Leire
Name: Dr. Eric Leire
Title: Chief Executive Officer

Notice Address:

Century City Medical Plaza
2080 Century City East
Suite 906

Los Angeles, CA 90067

Email: el@enochianbio.com
With a copy to:
clayton.parker@klgates.com

G TECH BIO, LLC:

By /s/ W. Anderson Wittekind
Name: W. Anderson Wittekind
Title: Manager

Notice Address:

Century City Medical Plaza
2080 Century City East
Suite 710

Los Angeles, CA 90067

Email: andersonwittekind@gmail.com
With a copy to:
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Enochian

Private and Confidential
December 28, 2018

By Email

Luisa Puche

318 NE 104th street
Miami Shores, FL 33138
luisa@puchegroup.com

Dear Luisa:

Further to our recent discussions in respect of your employment with Enochian BioSciences, Inc. (“Enochian” or the “Company”), we are delighted to offer you the full-time position of Chief Financial Officer (“CFO”) effective
January 7, 2019. The highlights and terms of your employment are outlined below.

1. Position and Responsibilities:

Your employment with Enochian will commence on January 7, 2019. Your responsibilities will include any and all duties assigned to you as CFO. You will report to the Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) and the Audit
Committee of the Company’s Board of Directors.

You agree that you shall at all times conscientiously perform all of the duties and obligations assigned to you to the best of your ability and experience and in compliance with law. You must use your best efforts to promote the
interests of Enochian and to devote your full business time and energies to the business and affairs of Enochian and the performance of your job duties.

2. Salary:
You will receive an annual base salary of $200,000.00 payable in bi-weekly (every two weeks) installments of $7,692.31 subject to applicable withholding and other lawful deductions.
3. Bonus:

You will be eligible for a cash bonus beginning at the end of the fiscal year ending June 30, 2019, with an annual bonus target of 40% (“Target”) of your base salary ($80,000). Once the bonus plan is finalized there is a possibility
to earn a determined maximum Target dependent upon corporate and personal performance goals determined by the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors (“Compensation Committee”).

4. Equity Incentives:

Subject to the approval of the Compensation Committee, you will be eligible for a hiring grant of 60,000 Stock Options and 15,000 shares of Restricted Stock (the “Grant”); such Grant to be made in accordance with the 2014
Equity Incentive Plan. Each equity award will vest in three equal annual installments of 33% per year, with the first 33% being fully vested on the first anniversary of your date of hire.

The specific mix and number of shares granted in future years as part of the annual equity grant program will be determined annually in line with the Company’s equity plan(s) and at the discretion of the Board of Directors.
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5. Performance Review
You will be eligible for a performance and salary review in February 2020 (retroactive to the anniversary of your hire date, meaning retroactively applied from January 7, 2020).
6. Benefits:

You will be eligible to receive all the usual benefits offered to employees at your level including participation in Company’s sponsored medical, dental, and insurance programs subject to the eligibility, terms, and conditions of
such plans, if any. The Company reserves the right to modify the benefits it offers and terms of coverage from time to time at the Company’s sole discretion.

7. Paid Time Off:

You shall earn four (4) weeks (20 business days) of paid time off (“PTO”) per calendar year. PTO shall be taken at times mutually agreeable to you and the Company and otherwise pursuant to applicable workplace policies. You
shall further be entitled to paid holidays and authorized (paid and unpaid) leaves in accordance with the policies of the Company then in effect for its senior executives.

8. Restrictive Covenant Agreement and Protection of Confidential Information:

It is the Company’s policy to have employees in your position sign the Company’s Employee Non-Disclosure, Non-Solicitation, and Non-Competition Agreement. This offer is contingent on you executing this Agreement, a copy
of which is attached hereto as Exhibit A.

9. At Will Employment:

Your employment with Enochian is “at will,” in that either you or Enochian has the right to terminate the employment relationship at any time, with or without cause and with or without notice. This status may only be altered by
written agreement, which is specific as to all material terms and is signed by an authorized officer of Enochian. This offer letter does not, and is not, intended to create either an express and/or implied contract of employment with
Enochian for a definitive term of employment.

10. Termination:
a. Definitions. For purposes of this Section 10:

i.  “Cause” shall mean: (i) your failure to materially perform and discharge your duties and responsibilities under this Agreement after receiving written notice and allowing you thirty (30) days to cure
such failure, if so curable, (provided, however, that after one such notice has been given to you during your employment, the Company is no longer required to provide time to cure subsequent failure); (ii) breach of Section 11 of
this offer letter or of your restrictive covenants with the Company; (iii) misconduct which, in the opinion and sole discretion of the Company, is injurious to the Company; (iv) conviction or pleading nolo contendere to a felony or
misdemeanor involving the personal dishonesty or moral turpitude; (v) engagement in illegal drug use or alcohol abuse, which prevents you from performing your duties in any manner; (vi) any misappropriation, embezzlement, or
conversion of the Company’s or any of its parent’s, subsidiary’s or affiliate’s property; (vii) willful misconduct or breach of fiduciary duty by you in respect of your duties or obligations; (viii) your failure to materially perform and
discharge the duties and responsibilities with respect to goals or objectives periodically provided to you by the Company after receiving written notice and allowing you thirty (30) days to cure such failure, if so curable, (provided,
however, that after one such notice has been given to you during your employment, the Company is no longer required to provide time to cure subsequent failure); (ix) your inability to perform the essential functions of your, with
or without reasonable accommodation, for an aggregate period in excess of ninety (90) days during the previous twelve (12) months, due to a physical or mental illness, disability, or condition, or your; or (x) your death.
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ii. “Change in Control” shall mean (a) the consummation of a merger or consolidation of the Company with or into another entity, (b) the dissolution, liquidation or winding up of the Company, (c) the
closing of the sale, lease, transfer or other disposition of all or substantially all of the Company’s assets in one transaction or a series of related transactions or (d) the closing of the transfer of the Company’s outstanding securities,
in one transaction or a series of related transactions, to a person or group of affiliated persons if, after such closing, such person or group of affiliated persons would hold a majority of the voting power of the capital stock of the
Company. The foregoing notwithstanding, a merger or consolidation of the Company does not constitute a “Change in Control” if immediately after the merger or consolidation a majority of the voting power of the capital stock of
the continuing or surviving entity, or any direct or indirect parent corporation of the continuing or surviving entity, will be owned by the persons who were the Company’s stockholders immediately prior to the merger or
consolidation in substantially the same proportions as their ownership of the voting power of the Company’s capital stock immediately prior to the merger or consolidation.

iii. “Good Reason” shall mean (i) a material diminution in your authority, duties, or responsibilities; (ii) a material diminution in your annual base salary as in effect immediately prior to such
diminution, other than in connection with a general diminution in Enochian’s compensation levels and in amounts commensurate with the percentage diminution of other Enochian employees of comparable seniority and
responsibility; or (iii) if applicable, a material breach by Enochian of an agreement with you pursuant to which you provide services to Enochian. No violation described in clauses (i) through (iii) above shall constitute Good
Reason unless you have given written notice to Enochian specifying the applicable clause and related facts giving rise to such violation within sixty (60) days after the occurrence of such violation and Enochian has not remedied
such violation to your reasonable satisfaction within thirty (30) day of its receipt of such notice.

b. Termination by the Company without Cause or Termination by Employee for Good Reason. In the event that the Company terminates your employment without Cause or you terminate your
employment for Good Reason, you will be entitled to six (6) months’ salary as severance and COBRA eligibility (“Severance”) provided you execute a mutually agreeable release waiving any and all claims against the Company
other than the obligations set forth in such release or in a final severance agreement and any applicable revocation period with respect to such release has expired (a “Release”). In the event of termination under this Subsection
10(b), you will not be entitled to severance, pro-rated bonuses or other post-termination payment except the severance as provided in this Subsection 10(b).

c. Termination for Cause or Termination without Good Reason. In the event you are terminated: (i) for cause at any time; or (ii) you voluntarily leave your employment without Good Reason at any
time, no severance, no pro-rated bonuses or other post-termination payment shall be due or payable by the Company except solely base salary and such payments as may have been accrued but not yet paid prior to such
termination.

d. Termination Upon Change in Control. In the event that at any time during your employment after July 7, 2019 the Company terminates your employment without Cause or you terminate your
employment for Good Reason during the twelve (12) months following a Change in Control, upon the execution of a Release you will be entitled to (i) Severance (ii) a pro-rated cash payment based on the Target for the year in
which such termination occurs and (iii) the immediate vesting of the Grant.

11. Prior Agreements:
This offer of employment is contingent upon your acknowledgement and representation to the Company that (a) there are no restrictions, agreements, or understandings whatsoever to which you are a party which would prevent or
make unlawful your execution of this offer letter or employment with the Company, (b) that your execution of this offer letter and employment hereunder shall not constitute a breach of any contract, agreement or understanding,
oral or written, to which you are a party or by which you are bound; and (c) that you are free and able to execute this offer letter and be employed by the Company. A written or oral notice or complaint that these representations

are not true and/or that you are violating a restrictive covenant or an agreement not to disclose confidential information from a prior employer shall subject you, at the Company’s sole discretion, to immediate termination for cause.
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12. General Contingencies:

This offer is contingent upon verification of eligibility to work in the United States. In order to comply with the Immigration Reform and Control Act of 1986, you will need to provide proof of U.S. citizenship or the right to work
in the United States on your first day of employment.

This offer is also contingent upon satisfactory results of background investigation, reference checks, and pre-employment alcohol and drug tests.

13. Governing Law:
If any provision of this offer letter should be wholly or partially invalid, unenforceable or unlawful, then this employment offer shall be severable with respect to the provision in question (to the extent that it is invalid,
unenforceable, or unlawful), and the remaining provisions of this offer of employment shall continue in full force and effect. This offer of employment shall be interpreted in accordance with the laws of the State of Florida. This
offer of employment constitutes the entire understanding between the parties and shall supersede any and all other understandings, oral or written. No addition to, or modification of, this employment letter shall be of any force or
effect unless in writing and signed by or on behalf of both parties. By executing and delivering this offer letter, you irrevocably submit to and accept the exclusive jurisdiction of the courts in the State of Florida and waive any
objection (including any objection to venue or any objection based upon the grounds of forum non conveniens) which might be asserted against the bringing of any such action, suit or other legal proceeding in such courts.

14. Employment Manual:
During your employment with Enochian, you will be required to abide by Enochian’s code of conduct, policies, and procedures as set forth in Enochian’s employee manual or as otherwise communicated to you in writing.

15. SEC Compliance:

For purposes of Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) reporting, you will be deemed an “executive officer” and are subject to the rules and requirements of Section 16 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. You
understand and agree that you will keep the terms and conditions of your employment confidential until such time as your employment is publicly disclosed as required by applicable SEC rules and regulations.




16. Acceptance:
To accept this offer, please sign and date this page, keep a copy for your records, and return a copy to me. Please also sign and date the attached agreement and return the signed agreement to my attention.

We are excited about this opportunity to work with you to build the Enochian brand and business. We are extremely confident that your employment with us will prove mutually beneficial and we look forward to having you join
our winning team!

Please let me know if you have any questions.
Very truly yours,
/s/ James Sapirstein,

James Sapirstein,
Chairman of the Compensation Committee of Enochian BioSciences, Inc.

I accept your offer of employment as set forth in this employment offer letter. I understand that my employment is “at will” and that either you or I can terminate my employment at any time, for any reason. No oral commitments
have been made concerning my employment.

/s/ Luisa Puche Date: 12/28/2018
Luisa Puche




Exhibit 10.12
AMENDED AND RESTATED DIRECTOR AGREEMENT

THIS AMENDED AND RESTATED DIRECTOR AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”) is made and entered into this effective as of this 21st day of November, 2018 (the “Effective Date”), by and between
ENOCHIAN BIOSCIENCES, INC., a Delaware corporation (the “Company”) and Mark Dybul, an individual (the “Director”).

RECITALS:

WHEREAS, the Company has appointed the Director to serve on the Board of Directors of the Company (the “Board”) pursuant to that certain Independent Director Agreement dated February 28, 2018 (the “Original
Agreement”); and

WHEREAS, the Director has been appointed Executive Vice-Chair of the Board and the parties desire to amend and restate the Original Agreement with respect to the Director’s service on the Board pursuant to the
terms set forth herein and in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing and the Director’s services to the Company as a member of the Board and intending to be legally bound hereby, the Company and the Director hereby agree as
follows:

AGREEMENT:

1. Term. The term of the Director’s appointment commenced on February 28, 2018 (the “Commencement Date”) and shall expire upon the Director’s resignation or removal from office in pursuant to the terms
of this Agreement, the Company’s then current Articles of Incorporation as may be amended from time to time, or any applicable laws, rules or regulations (the “Expiration Date”). In the event that the Director’s successor has not
been elected or appointed as of the Expiration Date, the Director agrees to continue to serve hereunder until such successor has been duly elected and qualified.

2. Compensation. In exchange for the Director’s service as a member of the Board, as of the Effective Date, the Company agrees to compensate the Director, and the Director agrees to accept the compensation
set forth on Schedule A subject to the terms herein. For the avoidance of confusion, the parties acknowledge that all compensation earned by the Director under the Original Agreement shall be deemed fully earned (subject to
vesting over time in the case of options), and any compensation approved by the Board prior to the Effective Date shall be deemed fully earned (subject to vesting over time in the case of options). The Compensation set forth in
Schedule A hereto shall replace any prior compensation on a going forward basis from the Effective Date. In the event that the Director serves less than a full year on the Board, or any committee thereof, the Company shall only
be obligated to pay the pro rata portion of such “Cash Compensation” as set forth on Schedule A hereto to the Director for services performed during such year. Furthermore, all unvested “Equity Compensation” set forth on
Schedule A hereto shall be forfeited and shall not accelerate in the event the Director serves less than a full year on the Board.
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3. Duties. The Director shall exercise all powers in good faith and in the best interests of the Company, including but not limited to, the following:

(a) Vice-Chair. Director shall devote approximately one day each week to duties as Executive Vice-Chair of the Board, which duties shall be determined in consultation with the Chair of the Board and
with the Board as a whole.

(b) Conflicts of Interest/Applicable law. In the event that the Director has a direct or indirect financial or personal interest in a contract or transaction to which the company is a party, or the Director is
contemplating entering into a transaction that involves use of corporate assets or competition against the Company, the Director shall promptly disclose such potential conflict to the applicable Board committee and proceed as
directed by such committee or the Board, as applicable. The Director acknowledges the duty of loyalty and the duty of care owed to the Company pursuant to Delaware law and agrees to act in all cases in accordance with
applicable law.

(c) Corporate Opportunities. Whenever the Director becomes aware of a business opportunity, related to the Company’s business, which one could reasonably expect the Director to make available to the
Company, the Director shall promptly disclose such opportunity to the applicable Board committee and proceed as directed by such committee.

(d) Confidentiality. The Director agrees and acknowledges that, by reason of the nature of the Director’s duties on the Board, the Director will have or may have access to and become informed of
proprietary, confidential and secret information which is a competitive asset of the Company (“Confidential Information”), including, without limitation, any lists of customers or suppliers, distributors, financial statistics, research
data or any other statistics and plans or operation plans or other trade secrets of the Company and any of the foregoing which belong to any person or company but to which the Director has had access by reason of the Director’s
relationship with the Company. The term “Confidential Information” shall not include information which: (i) is or becomes generally available to the public other than as a result of a disclosure by the Director or Director’s
representatives; or (ii) is required to be disclosed by the Director due to governmental regulatory or judicial process. The Director agrees faithfully to keep in strict confidence, and not, either directly or indirectly, to make known,
divulge, reveal, furnish, make available or use (except for use in the regular course of employment duties) any such Confidential Information. The Director acknowledges that all manuals, instruction books, price lists, information
and records and other information and aids relating to the Company’s business, and any and all other documents containing Confidential Information furnished to the Director by the Company or otherwise acquired or developed
by the Director, shall at all times be the property of the Company. Upon termination of the Director’s services hereunder, the Director shall return to the Company any such property or documents which are in the Director’s
possession, custody or control, but this obligation of confidentiality shall survive such termination until and unless any such Confidential Information shall have become, through no fault of the Director, generally known to the
public. The obligations of the Director under this subsection are in addition to, and not in limitation or preemption of, all other obligations of confidentiality which the Director may have to the Company under general legal or
equitable principles.




(e) Non-competition and Non-solicitation. The Director agrees that commencing on the Commencement Date and for a period of one year after the Expiration Date, the Director will not without the
written consent of the Company, either individually or as owner, partner, agent, employee, or consultant, engage in any activity that involves the development of combinatory gene therapy methods for the prevention, treatment,
and/or amelioration of and/or therapy exclusively for HIV in humans, and will not on the Director’s own behalf, or on behalf of any third party, directly or indirectly hire, discuss employment with, or recommend to any third party
the employment of any employee of the Company or any of its affiliates who was actively employed by the Company or an affiliate during the term of this Agreement without regard to whether that employee has subsequently
terminated his or her employment with the Company. The Director may continue to engage in any research, treatment or drug development activities and clinical trials for third parties so long as such activities exclude the
dissemination or disclosure of the Company’s Confidential Information and such activities are disclosed to the Company. If at any time during the term of this Agreement there is doubt as to whether the Director’s professional
activities comport with the terms of this Section 3(d), the Director must obtain consent from the Company in order to engage in the relevant activity, which consent will not be unreasonably withheld.

® Insider Trading Policies and Code of Ethics. The Director agrees to abide by and follow all such procedures set forth in the Company’s Insider Trading Policy, Code of Ethics and any similar policy,
code or document governing the conduct of directors of the Company as in existence now or at any time during the term of this Agreement.

4. Expenses. Upon submission of adequate documentation by the Director to the Company, the Director shall be reimbursed for all reasonable expenses incurred in connection with the Director’s position as a
member of the Board.

5. Indemnity. The Company and the Director agree that indemnification with respect to the Director’s service on the Board shall be governed by that certain Indemnification Agreement attached as Exhibit [
hereto the (“Indemnification Agreement”).

6. Withholding. The Director agrees to cooperate with the Company to take all steps necessary or appropriate for the withholding of taxes by the Company required under law or regulation in connection
herewith, and the Company may act unilaterally in order to comply with such laws.

7. Binding Effect. This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the Company and its successors and assigns.
8. Reecitals. The recitals to this Agreement are true and correct and are incorporated herein, in their entirety, by this reference.
9. Validity. The invalidity or unenforceability of any provision of this Agreement shall not affect the validity or enforceability of any other provision of this Agreement, which shall remain in full force and

effect.




10. Headings and Captions. The titles and captions of paragraphs and subparagraphs contained in this Agreement are provided for convenience of reference only, and shall not be considered terms or conditions
of this Agreement.

11. Neutral Construction. Neither party hereto may rely on any drafts of this Agreement in any interpretation of the Agreement. Both parties to this Agreement have reviewed this Agreement and have
participated in its drafting and, accordingly, neither party shall attempt to invoke the normal rule of construction to the effect that ambiguities are to be resolved against the drafting party in any interpretation of this Agreement.

12. Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in one (1) or more counterparts, each of which shall be deemed to be an original but all of which together will constitute one and the same instrument.
13. Miscellaneous. This Agreement shall be construed under the laws of the State of Delaware, without application to the principles of conflicts of laws. This Agreement and the Indemnification Agreement

constitute the entire understanding between the parties with respect to the Director’s service on the Board of the Company, and there are no prior or contemporaneous written or oral agreements, understandings, or representations,
express or implied, directly or indirectly related to this Agreement that are not set forth or referenced herein. This Agreement supersedes all negotiations, preliminary agreements, and all prior and contemporaneous discussions and
understandings of the parties hereto and/or their affiliates with respect to the Director’s service on the Board of the Company. The Director acknowledges that he has not relied on any prior or contemporaneous discussions or
understandings in entering into this Agreement. The terms and provisions of this Agreement may be altered, amended or discharged only by the signed written agreement of the parties hereto.

[Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Director Agreement as of the Effective Date.

DIRECTOR:
ENOCHIAN BIOSCIENCES, INC., a Delaware corporation

Mark Dybul
By: /s/ Eric Leire By: /s/ Mark Dybul

Name: Eric Leire
Title: Chief Executive Officer




SCHEDULE A

Cash Compensation:
The Director shall also receive $430,000 per annum for service from the Effective Date as the Executive Vice-Chair of the Board.
Equity Compensation:

In addition to options granted prior to November 28, 2018, the Director shall be entitled to options to purchase 300,000 shares of the Company’s common stock at an exercise price equal to the closing price of the Company’s
common stock on the Effective Date, which shall be fully earned as of November 28, 2018.




EXHIBIT I

INDEMNIFICATION AGREEMENT




Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Mark Dybul, certify that:

1.

I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Enochian Biosciences, Inc.;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements
were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of,
and for, the periods presented in this report;

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15-d-15(e)) and internal control over
financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principals;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period
covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual
report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of
directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process,
summarize and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: September 27, 2019

By:/s/ Mark Dybul

Mark Dybul
Executive Vice Chair

(Principal Executive Officer)



Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Luisa Puche, certify that:

1.

I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Enochian Biosciences, Inc.;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements
were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of,
and for, the periods presented in this report;

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15-d-15(e)) and internal control over
financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principals;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period
covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual
report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of
directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process,
summarize and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: September 27, 2019

/s/Luisa Puche

Luisa Puche

Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)



Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Enochian Biosciences, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the year ending June 30, 2019 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “Report”), the undersigned, Mark
Dybul, as Executive Vice Chair (Principal Executive Officer) of the Company, hereby certifies as of the date hereof, solely for purposes of Title 18, Chapter 63, Section 1350 of the United States Code, that to the best of my
knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d), as applicable, of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company at the dates and for the periods indicated.
Date: September 27, 2019

By:/s/ Mark Dybul

Mark Dybul

Executive Vice Chair
(Principal Executive Officer)




Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Enochian Biosciences, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the year ending June 30, 2019 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “Report™), the undersigned, Luisa
Puche, as Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial Officer) of the Company, hereby certifies as of the date hereof, solely for purposes of Title 18, Chapter 63, Section 1350 of the United States Code, that to the best of my
knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d), as applicable, of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, and
(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company at the dates and for the periods indicated.

Date: September 27, 2019

/s/Luisa Puche
Luisa Puche

Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)




